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Appellants, Bonny Gold, Dennis Gold, and Slurry Technologies
Operating, Inc (collectively, “Appellants”), appeal from the July 6, 2016
judgment in favor of Appellees John R. Frey, Elaine Frey, Robert G. Frey,
James Miller, and Robin Miller. We affirm.

The trial court’s opinion, which we quoted at length in the companion
case (1120 WDA 2016) sets forth the relevant facts and procedural history.
At this docket number, Appellants challenge the trial court’s discovery
sanctions. The trial court issued a series of sanctions against Appellants
during the course of this litigation, culminating in an order preventing
Appellants from contesting liability. As set forth at docket number 1120 of
2016, the jury returned a substantial award of damages in favor of Appellees.
Here, Appellants challenge several of the trial court’s pre-trial orders imposing
discovery sanctions.

In essence, Appellants argue that they consistently attempted to comply
with Appellees’ discovery requests; that certain documents were never in their
possession and that Appellees were aware of that fact; and that the trial
court’s various sanctions against them were excessive and not warranted
under applicable law. Before its final sanction—precluding Appellants from
contesting liability—the trial court conducted a lengthy hearing, after which it
rejected the factual bases for Appellants’ arguments. In particular, the trial
court found that the “Gold Defendants have attempted numerous times to

fabricate documents or utilize documents already in existence in order to
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prove they have purged themselves of contempt.” Trial Court Opinion,
10/7/16, at 21. In essence, the trial court concluded that Appellants were
dishonest, and that they led Appellees on a wild goose chase throughout years
of unnecessarily protracted discovery.

We recognize that appellate review of an order terminating litigation for
discovery sanctions is “stringent.” Cove Centre, Inc. v. Westhafer Const.,
Inc., 965 A.2d 259, 261 (Pa. Super. 2009).

Generally, imposition of sanctions for a party’s failure to
comply with discovery is subject to the discretion of the trial court
as is the severity of the sanctions imposed. Nevertheless, the
court’s discretion is not unfettered; since dismissal is the most
severe sanction, it should be imposed only in extreme
circumstances, and a trial court is required to balance the equities
carefully and dismiss only where the violation of the discovery
rules is willful and the opposing party has been prejudiced.
Consequently, where a discovery sanction either terminates the
action directly or would result in its termination by operation of
law, the court must consider multiple factors balanced together
with the necessity of the sanction.

Mindful, of course, that each factor represents a necessary
consideration and not a necessary prerequisite, this Court has
outlined the following factors:

(1) the nature and severity of the discovery violation;
(2) the defaulting party’s willfulness or bad faith;

(3) prejudice to the opposing party;

(4) the ability to cure the prejudice; and

(5) the importance of the precluded evidence in light of the
failure to comply.

Id.
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We have reviewed the record, the applicable law, the trial court’s
opinions and the parties’ briefs. We conclude that the trial court’s opinions of
October 7, 2016, at pages 27-35, and the trial court’s entire opinion of
November 26, 2012, thoroughly analyze the applicable law and the evidence
of record. We affirm the judgment on the basis of those opinions, and order
that a copy of each be filed along with this memorandum.

Judgment affirmed.

Judgment Entered.

/4
Joseph D. Seletyn, Esdy
Prothonotary

Date: 10/20/2017




Circulated 0072072017 02.37 PV

IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS OF VENANGO COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA
CIVIL DIVISION - LAW AND EQUITY

JOHN R, FREY and H. ELAINE FREY,
husband and wife; and G. ROBERT and SUE
FREY, husband and wife, :
Plaintiff/Counterclaim : .

Defendants, ; - o

v. : E : -
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BONNY GOLD and DENNIS GOLD, husband L B
and wife; SLURRY TECHNOLOGIES : 250 o "
OPERATING, LLC; SLURRY : L SR
TECHNOLOGIES OPERATING, INC. now : L =

known as AGGREGATE SOLUTIONS, INC.;
PILGRIM ENERGY COMPANY f/k/a
PILGRIM COAL COMPANY; CHARLES A,
MUSE, JR. individually; ALBERT C. MUSE,
individually; CHARLES A, MUSE, JR. and ¢ CIV. NO. 232-2002
ALBERT C. MUSE trading as ESUM :
PARTNERSHIP NO. 2; and SLURRY
TECHNOLOGIES, INC,,
Defendants,

V.

JAMES and ROBIN FREY MILLER,
Additional Counterclaim
Defendants.

OPINION OF COURT
AND NOW, this __@ day of November, 2012, this Court has tor consideration the
Motion to Enforce Contempt, for Additional Sanctions and for Altorney Fees filed on behalf of
the Plaintiffs. Argument and an évidentiary hearing was held thereon at which time the Plaintifis
were present and represented by Steven Petrikis, Esquire. The Gold Defendants were present
and self- represented. The Muse Defendants were represented by Jonathon Babyak, Esquire.
The Plaintitfs commenced the original action, filing the Complaint on December 11, 20b2.

The first Motion for Sanctions filed by Plaintiff wag on December 27, 2007 where the Court




ordered the Gold Defendants to serve “full and complete” answers to the [nterrogatories, to serve
a response to the Request for Productions of Documents and to make fifteen boxes of documents
available to the Plaintitfs on or before January 25, 2008. The Gold Defendants failed to comply
with this Order. Plaintiffs filed a second Motion for Sanctions on December 2, 2008 where the
Court again ordered Gold Defendants to comply with the same requirements as before, this time
with a deadline of March 2, 2009. The Gold Delendants were also advised that if full and
complete responses were not served, and documents not made available by the specified date, the
Court would issue appropriate sanctions, Again, the Gold Defendants failed to comply with the
Order.

Plaintiffs filed another Motion for Sanctions to all Gold Defendants and a Motion to
Compel on all Defendants on April 19, 2010. The Court yet again ordered the Gold Defendants
to file a response to Plaintiff’s Request for Production of Documents and Interrogatories and
make available all documents as previously ordered.. Still, the Gold Defendants failed to comply.
Plaintiffs then filed a Motion to Hold Defendants Dennis and Bonny Gold in Contempt, and
Motion for Attorney Fees. Following argument, the Court issued an Opinion and Order of Court
finding the Gold Defendants in contempt and allowed them to purge themselves by providing
copies of certain specified documents and paying attorney’s fees in the amount of §1,000.

Currently before the Court is Plaintiffs’ Motion to Enforce Contempt, for Additional
Sanctions and for Attorney Fees. As hereinbefore stated, the Court originally held argument on
the matter. During argument, Plaintiffs asserted that despite clear and unequivocal Court Orders
to provide discovery which they have evaded for nearly five years, the Gold Defendants persist in
failing to produce documents critical to Plaintiffs prosecution of the damages case. Plaintiffs

argucd that while it appears that the Gold Defendant’s complied with the previous Court Order, a




majority of the documemns in the four boxes were documents that they produced to the Gold
Defendants. As a result, Plaintiffs explain that the Gold Defendants now purport to not have most
of the documents including, the Hanson Documents, STO Ledgers and Bank Statements, STO
Receipts-and Payments, STO Billings and Receivables, Value Calculations and the tape of the
May 16, 2002 meeting. Plaintiffs claimed that the discovery violations in the case have been
repetitive. willful, pi‘ejudicial and designed to harm the Plaintiffs and to cause Plaintiffs to tncur
unpecessary expenses, fees and time in pursuinz discovery information which either never was in
the Golds' possession or was destroyed. DPlaintiffs are requesting default judgment, evidence
preclusion, factual findings and payment of attorney fees.

In response, the Gold Defendants argued that they have complied with the Court Order
dated March 29, 2011 that required them to copy and provide at their own cost all documents
requested in discovery. They alleged that it has been Plaintiffs’ counsel that has in fact been
causing the wanton and deliberate delay. The Gold Defendants claimed that Exhibit E to their
Response/Brief in Opposition of Motion for Sanctions will show that the Gold Defendants did
produce to the best of their ability the docwments requested by the March 29, 2011 Order and
actually went above and beyond by even organizing and labeling the documents to correspond
with the questions. Mr. Gold also claims that he provided the tape that was requested. They
further argued in their Proposed Findings of Fact and Memorandum of Law, filed July 30, 2012,
that up until the March 29, 2011 Order, they were never ordered to produce those specific
documents as the previous four Court Orders did not contain the word “invoice” or “audit” but
only used the term “document.” They request that the Court re-instate their counterclaims and
affirmative defenses, impose sanctions against the Plaintiffs for the intentiona! exploitation of

their pro se status and delay of the whole trial process, and order the Plaintiffs to pay the costs of




$14,850 associated with the unnecessarily extended discovery process and production of
documents,

Following argument on the instant Motion aud due to the gravity of the allegations raised,
the Court held an evidentiary hearing on said Motion providing all parties an opportunity to
present any evidence on what, if any, sanctions the Cowrt could impose based upon the findings
of contempt and noncompliance. Foliowing the hearing, the Court ordered all parties to file
Memoranda of Law thirty (30) days following the completion of the transcripts of the hearing.
The Court received the Plaintiffs’ Proposed Findings of Fact and Memorandum of Law for
Plaintiffs® Mation to Enforce Contempt, for Additional Sanctions and for Attorney Fees on July
23, 2012, Defendants Gold’s Proposed Findings of Fact and Memorandum of Law
Demonstrating Defendants Gold Have Purged Themselves of Contempt of the Court’s 3/29/12
Discovery Order and That Plaintiff’s Motion for Additional Sanctions for Attorneys Fees Shouid
be Refused on July 30, 2012, Muse Defendants’ Proposed Findings of Fact and Memorandum of
Law for Plaintiffs’ Motion to Enforce Contempt, for Additional Sanctions and Attorney’s Fees
filed on August 1, 2012 andrf'mally Plaintiffs’ Response to Defendants Gold’s Proposed Findings
of Fact and Memorandum of Law filed on August 14, 2012, Based on the evidence, testimony,
and the record, the Court makes the following Findings of Fact.

On April 13,2011, as a result of the March 29, 2011 Order of Court, the Gold Deferdants
forwarded via Federal Express a letter, a check for $1,000.00 and four large boxes of documents.
Upon review of the doémnents, both by Plaintiffs’ counsel and the Plaintiffs, it appeared that a
large amount of the documents produced in those four boxes were in fact documents that the
Plaintiffs had previously produced to the Gold Detfendants and that none of the documents were

those ordered to be produced, Plaintiffs prepared an index of the documents produced when they




reviewed the boxes, which was admitted into evidence during the evidentiary hearing.
Following review of the documents contained in the boxes, Plaintiffs’ attomey advised Mr. Gold,
viz letter dated July 12, 2011, that he had failed to purge himself of contempt and that he was
providing Mr. Gold with an additional ten days to comply. Mr. Gold then responded via letter -
dated July 28, 2011 stating that he had sent a second April 13, 2011 letter that did comply with
the March 29, 2011 Order of Cowrt. On October 17, 2011, Mr. and Mrs. Gold filed a verified
response to the Motion to Enforce Contempt, entitled Response/Brief in Opposition of Motion
for Sanctions. The Gold Defendants testified as to the existence of the second April 13, 2011
letter and indicated that it was attached as Exhibit E. However, there was no Exhibit F attached
to the response and none was ever produced either at the argument or at the hearing. Eventually,
during the April 9", 2012 hearing, Mr. Gold admitted that there was no second April 13,2011 In
a later letter sent in October of 2011, Gold Defendants asserted that the documents that they had
been ardered to produce were designated by “blue sheet” dividers with writing explaining what
documents followed. The Gold Defendants attempted to prove th;s via their son’s testimony and
the testimony of Ashley Baker during the evidentiary hearing. This assertion is in contradiction
to ;the July 28, 2011 letter stating that the “second” April 13, 2011 letter did the same thing,
During the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Gold testified that the Answer to the Frey Parties’ first set of
interrogatories and request for production of documents was the “second” April 13, 2011 letter
he had previously asserted had complied with the Court’s Order directing them lo label
documents which provided answers to [nterrogatories 1, 3, 5. However, when questioned further,
Mr. Gold admitted that specific Answer was verified and prepared in 2010, before the most
recent Court Order directing him to clearly identify the documents when produced. Next the

Gold Defendants asserted at the first cvidentiary hearing that they forwarded a July 20, 2011




letier to Plaintiff's counsel that complied with the March 29, 2011 Order, which offerad
Plaintiffs an opportunity to meet. However, when pressed further about the letter, Mr. Gold
stated that it had never actually been sent and instead was redrafted by an attorney and was
essentially the July 28, 2011 letter allegedly containing similar content, that was sent to
Plaintiff’s counsel. However, the July 28, 2011 letter relies wholly upon the now established as
never existent “second” April 13, 2011. After reviev of the document during testimony at the
evidentiary hearings, the content was not substantially similar, In all, Gold Defendants have
attempted numerous times to fabricate documents or utilize documents already in existence in an
effort to prove they have purged themselves of contempt. The Gold Defendants have to this day
failed to produce any documents relating to the stock value determination of $7.64 per share,
despite Mr. Gold testifying at his deposition that he prepared the computations, have failed to
produce STQ’s billings and receivables and STO. receipts and payment, have failed to produce
general ledgers and bank statements and have failed to produce the Hanson invoices, including
audit information, after Defendant Charles Muse, in his deposition, confirmed that the
documents' did exist and that they were prepared in Franklin, Pennsylvania, where Mr, Gold
performed his work for the Muse Defendants.

Prior to the March 29, 2011 Order, the Gold Defendants and Plainiiffs’ counsel had
vepeatedly corresponded directly regarding the documents ordered to be produced. By letter
dated March 12, 2009, Plaintiffs’ counsel wrote to the Gold Defendants “To the extent these
documents are not in your possession, please so advise.” In a written response, the Gold
Defendants did not so advise but instead stated that counsel should “bring a flashlight, and a
generator”’ to review thirty boxes in an unlit storage facility. At no time, prior to the current

Motion did the Gold Defendants assert that they do not have the documents and it is not clear




from the record whether they assert that these documents never existed, were lost, were

destroyed or are simply not being produced.
A Court may, as authorized by the Pennsylvania Rules of Civil Procedure, make an

appropriate order for sanctions if*

(a)(vil) a party, in response to a request for productiun or inspection made under
Rule 4009, fails to respond that inspection will be permitted as requested ot fails
to permit inspection as requested,;

(vii) a party or person otherwise fails to make discovery or to obey an order of
court respecting discovery.

(c) The court, when acting under subdivision (a) of this rule, may make
(4) an order imposing punishment for contempt, except that a party may not be
punished for contempt for a refusal to submit to a physical or mental examination

under Rule 4010;

(5) such order with regard to the failure to make discovery as is just.
Pa. R.C.P. No. 4019.

The decision whether to sanction a party for a discovery violation and the severity of the
sanction are vested in the sound discretion of the trial court. Judge Technical Services, Inc. v.
Clancy, 813 A.2d 879 (Pa. Super. 2002). A trial cowrt should not impose sanctions for failure to
allow discovery unless a party has disregarded a court order. Stern v. Vic Snyder, Inc., 473 A2d
139 (Pa. Super. 1984).

The following factors are considered in determining appropriate sanctions for failure to
comply with discovery orders: (1) the nature and severity of the discovery violation; (2) the
defaulting party’s willfulness or bad faith; (3) prejudice to the opposing party; (4) the ability to
cure the prejudice; (5) the importance of the precluded evidence in light of the failure to comply.

Judge Technical Services, Inc., 813 A.2d at §79. Only counse! fees incurred as a direct result of




a discovery violation should be imposed as discovery sanctions except in the most egregious
cases. Sun Pipe Line Co v, Tri-State Telecomm., Inc., 655 A.2d 112 {Pa. Super. 1994).

The Gold Defendants did not comply with the December 27, 2007 Order, the December
31, 2008 Order, the August 3, 2010 Order and finally the March .29, 2011 Order. The Gold
Delfendants produced to the Plaintiffs a check for $1,000.00 however, they have continued to fail
to produce the decuments requested by Plaintiffs and ordered by the Court. The Court notes that
the Gold Defendant’s now claim that they do not and never had the documents sought by the
Plaintiffs. However, the Court also notes thai the last three Cowrt Orders that sanctioned the
Gold Defendants were for not producing such documents and if the documents were not in the
Gold Defendants’ possession then they should so pled. Furthermore, the Gold Defendnats at no
time, despite being directly asked by Plaintiffs, informed the Plaintiffs either that they were not
in possession of the Hanson invoices. Therefore, the Gold Defendants have violated not onty
one, but four Court Orders, making sanctions appropriate in this case. Stern, 473 A.2d at 139.

In determining the appropriate sanctions for the Gold Defendants, the five factor test
should be used as set forth in Judge Technical Services, Inc., 813 A.2d at 879. The nature and
severity of the discovery violation is such that Gold Defendants have not only violated four
Court Orders, resulting in almost a ﬂ\fe year delay in getting the requested documents to the
Plaintiffs that they apparently now state they never had, but they have also misled the Plaintiffs
through five years of discovery motions costing them a substantial amount of money in the
pursuit of documents and have wasted the Court’s time for the past five years by conducting
argument on discovery motions refated to these documents.

The defaulting party’s willfulness or bad faith can be viewed to be notably egregious in

this case. As stated hereinbefore, the Gold Defendants have led the Plaintiffs through five years




of discovery motions costing them significant and repeated expense in search of documents that
they now assert they never had, they submitted false verifications and testimony at the hearings,
they have failed to produce computations that Mr. Gold himself testified at deposition that he
prepared for the $7.64 share value and they misled the Cowt by attempting to pass off
intervogatory answers filed in 2009, and modified in 2010, which themselves were found
inadequate even then, as a current attempt to comply with the previous Order, For an unknown
reason and despite request from the Plaintiffs, the Gold Defendants apparently felt it unnecessary.
to inform either the Plaintiffs or the Court of the fact that they did not have the documents being
sought.

The prejudice to the opposing party is significant. The Plaintiffs assert that the
documents which they have not been permitted to access included information related to specific
multi-million dollar contracts, These contracts are the basis for this action, and it was the
securing of the contracts that the Plaintiffs allege spurred the majority shareholder Defendants to
conspire to freeze the ﬁl'morit_v shareholder Plaintiffs out of the corporation. The decuments. at
issue include valuable information which would assist the Plaintiffs in establishing tﬁe value of
the business from which Plainiiffs assert that they were improperly excluded. Without the proper
documentation on how the price per share for the corporation was calculated,‘ the Plaintiffs do
not have the means necessary to calculate a figure for damages.

The Gold Defendants do not possess the ability to cure the prejudice as they now assert
that they do not have the documents to produce. Therefore, they would not bc able to provide to
the Plaintiffs the documents they have been requesting for the past five years that would provide
the basis for the damages in their action. The Court notes that it was determined during the

evidentiary hearing that the necessary discovery could be collected by conducting a depaosition of




Hanson Aggregates West, Inc., in Texas, which was previously requested by Plaintiffs and
granted by the Court.  However, the Court finds that the Plaintiffs decision not to subpoena the
Hanson corporation does not in any way purge the Gold Defendants of contempt as it would
have cost the Plaintiffs an upwards of $10,000 for documents that they were being led to believe
existed in either Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania or Franklin, Pennsylvania.

The importariceé of the precluded evidence is significant. The STO’s billings and
receivables, STO’s receipts and payments would be offered by the Plaintiffs to establish that
STO. had sufficient billings and receivables to satisfy the indebtedness to the Muse Defendants,
proving further that the Sheriff's sale was not a legitimate judgment execution. The- general
ledgers and bank statements would be offered to establish that the Muse Defendants returned
assets of STO to the Gold Defendants from which they received money after the Sheriff's sale as
further payment for the Golds® cooperation in the conveyance of the Hanson contract and STQ
business at the execution sale. The Court finds that the Gold Defendants have been granted
multiple opportunities to comply with its orders an despite being rcpeatédly warned by this Court
of the consequences of their misconduct, have instead chose to misrepresent and verify untrue
statements, Therefore, Plaintiff's Motion to Enforce Contempt, for Additional Sanctions and for
Attorney Fees is hereby GRANTED. An appropriate Order will follow.

BY THE COURT,

A7

OLIVER I\LOBAUGH, Pr 1dent Judge

CC: 5. Petrikis, Esquirc 412-918-1199
J. Babyak, Esquire, 412-261-3060
Dennis Gaold, 215 Big Onk Drive, Franklin PA 16323
Bonnie Gold, 215 Big Qak Drive, Franklin, PA 16323




IN THE COURT OF

COMMOCN PLEA.S‘ OF VENANGO COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA
CIVIL DIVISION - LAW AND EQUITY

JOHN R. FREY and H. ELAINE FREY,

hushand and wife; and G. ROBERT and SUE
FREY, husband and wife,

plalntiff/Counterclaim

Defendants, : _'é = =5
BoL 2EF
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BONNY GOLD and DENNIS GOLD, husband ,_H‘-% = “,;
and wife; SLURRY TECHNOLOGIES 3 S 'l
OPERATING, LLC; SLURRY k) - 3
TECHNOLOGIES OPERATING, INC. now D5 = =
known as AGGREGATE SOLUTIONS, INC.;
PILGRIM ENERGY COMPANY f/k/a

PILGRIM COAL COMPANY; CHARLES A,

MUSE, JR. individually; ALBERT C. MUSE,

individually; CHARLES A. MUSE, JR. and ¢ CIV.NO. 232-2002
ALBERT C. MUSE trading as ESUM :

PARTNERSHIP NO, 2; and SLURRY
TECHNOLOGIES, INC.,

Defendants,

V.

JAMES and ROBIN FREY MILLER,

Additional Counterclaim
Defendants.

p ORDER OF COURT

AND NOW, this 2& day of November, 2012, in accordance with the Opinion of

Court filed this same date, it is hereby ORDERED and DECREED as follows:
1.

Judgment is entered in favor of Plaintiffs and against Dennis Gold, Boany Gold
Slury Technologies Operating, LLC (

“STO”) and Shurry Technologies, Inc.
(“STI”) on all claims included in this consolidated proceeding;

2. Evidence of expenses incurred in performance of the Hanson contract is hereby
excluded at trial;

| The———
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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS OF VENANGO COUNTY, PLNNSYLVANIA \é’h_‘)
CIVIL DIVISION — LAW AND EQUITY

JOHN R. FREY and BLAINE FREY, husband
and wife, and G. ROBERT and SUE FREY,
husband and wife,

}?.'a.‘m;'ﬁfs'/é‘aunt-e-r:elaim—Befendanrs,-__.___ S S —

v, :

; CIVNo, 232200 &8 @
BONNY GOLD and DENNIS GOLD, husband : , e o 5 =4
and wife; SLURRY TECHNOLIGIES, LLC; : 9 5
STURRY TECHNOT.OGIES OPERATING, INC,, : I i
n/k/a AGGREGATE SOLUTIONS, INC,, ! 1120 WDA 20185 ™ iy
PILGRIM ENERGY COMPANY, f/ld/a L LSS WDA20EL B SR
PILGRIM COAL COMPANY; CHARLES A. : _:3 w0 Fo
MUSE, JR., individuslly; ALBERT C. MUSE, : wr oo 2
individually, CHARLES A. MUSE JR., and : , YoM Tl

ALBERT C. MUSE, trading as ESUM :
PARTNERSHIP NO. 2, and SLURRY
TECHNOLOGIES, INC.,

Defendants,

v,

JAMES and ROBIN FREY MILI.ER, |
Additional Counterclaim Defendants,

0'7’INION OF-COURT PURSUANT TO 1925(a)
AND NOW, {[{/A 7 , 2016, the Court has for consideration two
{

Statements ot Brrors filed pursuant to Pa, R.A.P, 1925(b), The first is filed on behalf of the

. Defendants Pilgrim Energy Company, Pilgrim Coal Company, Charles Muse and Albert C.
Muse individuaﬂy, Charles Muse and Albert C. Muse tiading ag ESUM Partnership No, 2,
Aggregate Solutions, and Albert C, Muse in his cgpacity as the Personal Representative of
Charles H, Muse, Jr, (“the Muse Defendants”), The second is filed on behalf of the Defendants
Dennis Gold, Bonny Gold, and Slurry Technologies Operating, LLC (“the Gold\gafcndants").

Both sets of defendants appeal from the judgment entered pursuant to the jury’s verdict and this
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Court’s Order of June 13, 2016, which disposed of the parties’ post-trial motions. Pennsylvania
Rule of Appellate Procedure requires that “the judge who entored the ordor giving rise to the
nolice of appeal, if the reasons for the order do not already appear of tecord, shall forthwith flle

of record at least a brief opinion of the reasons for the order, or for the rulings or other errors

c0mp.l'a-i-r"xed of;,- or shall specify in writing the place in the record where such reasons may Gc
found,” Accordingly, we render the following Opinion,
I
A brief summation of the facts and procedural history of this case is as follows, Plaintiff
H. Elaine Frey (“Elaine” ot “Elaine Frey”) invested in an entity known as Slurty Technologies
Operating, LLC in 1997, hereinafier referred (o as “STO.” Defendant Bonny Gold wes the 60%

capital stock holder or majority owner of STO and Elaine Frey was the 40% owner and minority

stock holder, Bonny Gold's husbund end co-Defendant, Dennis Gold, was the president of STO.

_ Plaintiff John Frey, the husband of Elaine, was employed at STO as an engineer,

STO provided water purification technology in the coal mining industry, More
gpecifically, the company was involved in the sale, design, construction and operation of
equipment for the processing of industtial shurries. Dennis Gold contributed his putenls for
purification and Elaine Frey agreed to pay §150,000 to help capitalize the company. Bonny Gold
and Elaine Frey entered into a Pre-Incorporation Agreement dated November 15, 1996. The two
eatered into an Operating Apteement a short time thereafter.

On Febtuary 16, 1999, Pilgrim Coal Company made a loan to both STO and a separale
company named Slurry Technologies Operating Inc., hercinafter “STI”, in the amount of

$250,000.00." Charles H. Muse, Jr. was the president and director of Pilgrim Coal Company st

!pilgrim Coal company latot rebranded as “Pilgeim Energy Company.” ‘logether, they aro herelnalter referved to
simaply as “Pllgrim.”




the relevant time for this proceeding, Alberl C. Muse was Vice-President of Pilgrim Coal
Company at the relevant time for this proceeding and was Charles . Muse J1.’g first cousin,
Collectively, Albert C, Musc and Charles H, Muse Jr. would from time to time capitalize

businesses under the trede name of “ESUM Partnership No. 2.” The [.0an Agreement in question

e = mmme v mm meM s W Ve EAWVLIVUULELY YLV WIr vy

" (the “Pillgrim Loan Nole”) was signed by Dennis 1D, Gold, as Vice Chairman of STO, Dentis D,
Gold, as President of STI, and Charles H. Muse, Ir., President of Pilgtim Coal Company. Elaine
Frey and Bonny Gold signed a Certificate and Authorization by the Members of STO to the Loan
Agreement, The Pilgrim loan would eventually be defaulted on in 2001

Plaintiffs G. Robett Ftey and Sue Frey, the parents of John Frey, agreed {o offer a
$50,000.00 Certificate of Deposit (“CD") accounl as collaterel for a loan for STO. The Note
therefor was signed on behalf of STO by Dennis Gold on November 6, 2000,

On Qctobet 3, 2001, John and Elaine Frcy instituted an action against Dennds Gold,
Bonny Gold, and STO asserting causes of action for violations of the Pennsylvania Wage
Payment and Collection Law (hereinaficr “WPCL" see 43 P.8. §§ 260.1 ~ 260.12), for breach of’
contract, for wrongful termination, for unjust entichment, for breach of duty of good faith and '
fair dealing, for breach of fiduciary duty, for an accounting, for freeze ou, for fraudulent
misteprosentation, for repayment of loans, fox oivil conspiracy and for a declaratory judgment.
Around the same time, Roberl and Sue Froy also instituted an action ageinst STO and Dennis
Gold alleging breach of contract, breach of security agreement, fiandulent misrepresentation and
requesting the imposition of a construclive trust. Both of these suits were eventually consolidated
with the instant action,

On November 30, 2001, a meeting ocourred between Albert and Charles Muse with John

and Elaine Frey in Pittsburgh. The content of (he discussion that took place at that mecting is
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disputed, bul esseatially the Muse Detendants offered to provide John and Elaine Frey a limited
ownership interest in an STO successor company, provided that the Freys would in vetutn cease
their litigation against the Defendants. John Frey, believing the settlement offer to be inadequate

for various reasons, declined.

As prb':’-l:;"l;.;f;!‘-;'-l;ntioncd, S1'0 defaulted ;-r-lhtl_inemi’ilgrim Loan I\‘Iétc-: 1_n 2001 0n
November 5, 2001, Pilgrim filed a Confession of Judgment against STO, ST1, and Dennis and
Bonny Gold in the amount of $365, 627.23 pursuant to the terms of the Pilgrim Loan Note. The
Gold Defendants took no steps to defend agalnst this judgment nor did they attempt to delay the
execution of the sheniff”s sale. Accordingly, a sheriff’s sale was held on December 19, 2001, ‘The
sale took place at the offices of S’fO. Al that sale, Pilgrim purchased all the physicel assets of
STO and/or STI. These assets included several service contracts, the most hoteble of which was
(hc “Hanson contract,” an agreement to provide the 8TO's slutry-processing services to an
energy company located ih Texas. -

The instant action was initiated pursuant to the Wit of Summons of John and Elaine Frey
of February 22, 2002, Though this action assexts many different rights of redress under a variety
of legal theories, perhaps the cotc allcgation by the Plaintiffs is that the Gold and Muse

Defendants acted in concert to deprive John and Elaine Frey of their respective employment and

: ownetship positions at STO such (hat the Muse and Gold Defendants could cnjoy the fruits of the

water purification business to the exclusion of John and Elaine Ftey. See Trial Tr. Day 1, pp. 38-
4]. In particular, they allege that the Gold Defendants did not contest the acquisition of STO (the
primary asset of which was the Hanson contract) at the time of the sheriff’s sale. Jd. In exchange
for that coopetation, the Muse Defendants agreed to reward the Gold Delendants both with

employment and an ownership stake in STO’s successor company. fd. Indeed, it is uncontested
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thul the Muse Defendants did employ Dennis Gold at STI following their acquisition of the
company, that this employment occurred in the exact office space utilized by STO prior to the
sherifl’s sale, and that STO and ST share remarkably similar monikers, STI would eventually

rebrand as “Aggregate Solutions, Inc.”

Zuen/03d

Thls litigation has becn the subjcct of numerous and pratracted dxscov.ary diaputeb On
September 2, 2008, the Plaintiffs filed the first of soveral motions requesting sanctions for
discovery violations. The Court first held the Gold Defendants in contempt on March 29, 2011,

and again on November 26, 2012. In the November 26, 2012 Order, the Court held the Gold

* Defendants in contempt and granted the Plaintiffs’ Motion for Additional Sanctions, thereby

entering “judgment in favor of Mlaintiffs and against Dennis Gold, Bonny Gold, Slurry
Technologies Opetating, LLC (“8T0”) and Slurry Technologies, Inc. (“STI™) on all claims
included in this consolidated proceeding,” Ordor of Court Dated November 26, 2012 at §1. In
essence, the sanctions precluded the Gold Defendants from litigating at trial any issues relating
to theix liability, and limited any defonse they might tender solely to the issue of damages.?
Dennis Gold appealed this Courts’ imposition of sanctions to the Superior Court on
December .26, 2012. The Plaintiffs opposcd the appeal on procedural grounds, urguing that the
Gold Defendants failed to adhere to the Pennsylvania Rules of Appeliate Procedure governing
the taling of permissive appenls, The Superior Court quashed the appeal us improvidently taken
and remanded the matter to this Court for fuxther proceedings on March 6, 2013, See Superior

Court Doclket No. 13 WDA 2013,

% A fuller discussion of the sanctions imposed upon tho Gold Defendants appears /nfFg In Section 111

5
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The maller eveniually proceeded to trial, which began on November 14, 2014, and ended
on Novemnbar 24, 2014. The jury returned a verdict finding the various Defendants liable on
certain claims and not liable on others. With respect to the Gold Defendants: |

o The jury awarded the Plaintiff John Frey $77,114,00 for unpaid wages, frmgc

beneﬁts and severance pursuant to fhe Pennsylvama Wage Payment and
Collection Law (“WPCL"). The jury also indicated that an additional 25% should
be awarded to John Frey pursuent to the WPCL's provisions on duc.wages not
peid and not the subject of a good-faith dispute.

« The jury awarded Plaintiff John Frey $70,833.00 for wrongful discharge.

s The jury awarded John and Elaine Frey $32,423.00 for loans not repaid, and
$40,147.00 for MNBA statements not reimbursed.?

¢ The jury awarded Elaine Frey $150,000.00 for breach of fiduciary duty; breach

'

; of the duty of loyalty, and freeze out.
» The jury awarded John and Blaine i'rey $400,000.00 for intentional interference
with contractual relations.
= The jury awarded John and Elaine Frey $500,000.00 for fraudulent
misrepresenlation,
e The jury awarded John and Flaine Frey $449,232.00 for civil conspitacy.
» ‘The jury awarded . Robett Frey and Sue Frey $300,000.00 for civil conspiracy.
With respect to the Muse Defendants:
» The jury determined the value of STO at the time of the sheriff’s sale to be

$1,000,000.00, Accordingly, subtracting $365,000.00 per the Court’s

3 These specific claims are ocoasionally refarred to as “the broach of contract claims” both suprs and fnfra,

6
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ingtructions, the jury awarded Elaine Frey $635,000.00 for violation of the
Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act (“UFTA"); 12 Pa, C.S.A, §§ 5101 - 5110.
o The jury awarded John and Elaine Frey $100,000,00 against Pilgrim Energy

Computry for intentional interference with contractual relations,

gV rsvao

» The jury awarded John and Flaine Frey $65,00000&gmnst ESUMPartnership =

No. 2 for interference with contractual relations.
s The juty awarded John and Elaine Frey $100,000.00 against ESUM Partriership
No. 2 for fraud and/or (raudulent misrepresentation.
» The jury awarded John and Elaine Frey $100,000.00 against Pilgrim Energy
Company for civil conspiracy,
o The jury awarded John and Elaine Frey $100,000.00 ageinst ESUM Pavtnership
No. 2 for civil conspiracy
Motions for Post trlal relief came from all partics on December 4, 2014. Argument thereon was
held May 22, 2015, On June 13, 2016, the Court denied the post-trial motions of the Gold and
Muse Defendants in their entitety, With respect to the Plaintiffs’ requests for post-trial relief, we
granted their motion in part and denied their motion in part. Specifically, we ordered that (1) the
vcrcllict be moldcd_to reflect the Gold Defendants® liability for statutory liquidated damages
. pursuant to the Pennsylvania Wage Payment and Collection Law, (2) the verdiet be molded to
reflect the Gold Defendant's tesponsibility for attotneys® fees for the Plaintiffs’ WPCL claims,
((3} the verdict be rﬁolded to reflect the Gold Defendants’ responsibility (o pay prejudgment
intevest on the Plaintiffs’ cleim for breach of contract, (4) the verdict be molded to reflect the
Muse Defendanis’ responsibility to pay prejudgment interest on the Plaintiffs’ claims under the

Unifotm Fraudulent Transfer Act (“UFTA,” see 12 Pa. C.8.A. §§ 5101 - 5110).
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The Plaintiffs praeciped for the eatry of judgment on July 6, 2016, whereupon judgment
was cnterod in a manner reflective of the verdict and this Court's Order of June 13, 2016. These
timely appeals followed,* We now turn to the speoific assignments of error raised by either set

of Defendants.

The Muse Defendants rajse foutteen issues on appeal, We address cach issue seriatim,
grouping the issues together where it is sensible to do so,

The first issue raised by the Muse Defendants is whethet “thero was sufficient evidence
provided at trial to support the valuation of Sluxty Technologies, LLC at $1,000,000.007" Muse
Defs, Coneise Stat. 7 1. We understand the issue as taking exception to this Cowt’s denial of the
Muse Defendants’ post-verdict request for judgment notwithstanding the verdict (“JNOV™), A
JNOV can be entered upon two bases: (1) where the movant is catitled to judgment as a matter of

- law; and/or, (2) the evidence was such that no (wo reasonable minds could disagree that the

| verdict should havc been rendered for the movant, Hann v, Weil.s‘, 103 A.3d 60, 69-70 (Pa, Super.
2014), In reviewing & tial court’s denigl of a motion for JNOV, an appellate court should
congider all of the evidence admitted to decide il (here was sufficient competent evidence lo
sustain the factfinder’s vordict, Jd Review of legal determinations is plenary, /d, However,
conceming any question of credibility and the weight Lo be afforded to the evidence presented at
trial, the appellate coutt should not substitute its own judgment for that of the factfinder. Id. “In

so doing, we must also view this evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict winner,

* Though the Ordet from which the Dofondunts appeal was entered on June 13, 2016, judgmont was not entered until
July 6, 2016, A cotrected version of the judgment was ontored on July 12, 2016, and the docket veflocty that nolice
of this corvected entry of Judgnent was not actually sent to the Defondunta® correct mailing addresses until July 21,
2016. Accordingly, the sppeals ol both Lhe Muse and Gold Defondents (respectivoly filed on August 2, 2016 and
AugusL 4, 2016) are timely, See Pa, R.A.P. 903 (30 days (o file eppeal), Lynch v. Merropolitan Life ins. Co, 222
A.2d 925, 926 (Pa. 1966); Hart v, Arnold, 884 A.2d 316, 325 n.2 (Pa Super 2005) (appeal is taken from judgment,
tather than verdict or otder resolving post-trial motions),
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giving the victorious parly the benefit of every reasonable inference arising from the evidence

and rejecting all unfavorable testimony and inference... If any basis exists upon which the [jury]

could have propetly made its award, then we must affirm the trial court's denial of the motion for

JNQV, A JNOV should be entered only in a clear case.” Id. (citmg Ioseph v. Scranton Times,

L P, 89 A 3d 251 260 (Pa Supcr 2014))
We addressed the Muse Defendants’ specific contention that the jury could not have
artived at their $1,000,000,00 valuation of STO in our Opinion of June 16, 2016 as follows:

Ordinarity, “the duly of assessing damages is within the province of the
jury and should not be interfered wilth by the court, unless it clearly appears that

the amount awarded resulted from captice, prejudice, partiality, corruption or
some other improper influence.” Betz v. Erle Ins. Exchange, 957 A.2d 1244, 1264 .
(Pa. Super, 2008). So long as “the verdict bears a reasonable resemblance to the
damages proven, we will not upset it merely because we might have awarded
different damages.” Jd, (citations and quotations omitted). In the case at bar, the
Court charged the jury that the value of the Hanson contract is lo be determined at
the time the transfer of that coniract was effectuated (£ ., the duy of the sheriff’s
sale), Trial Tr, Day 7, 191, The Musc Defendants did not object 1o the charge i
this respect, and in any event the charge is clearly supported by the rclevant
statutory language contained in the UFTA. See 12 Pe, C.S.A. §5108(¢) (“the
judgment must be for an amount equal to the value of the asset at the time of the
transfer”), As such, that the contract was ultimately unprofitable may constitute
some evidence of the.comract’s velue at the time of transfet, but it is by no means
dispositive. The juty was frec, on the othet hand, to credit the wealth of testimony
taken from John Frey that the Hanson contract wag worth, at the time of transfer,
soime $4,229,000. Trial Tr. Day 1, 152-157, 159-160. The jury, apparcntly
crediting jo patt Mr. Frey's valuation, awarded a verdict finding that STO was
worth $1,000,000. See Post-Sentence Motions Tr., 34.
The Muse Defendants attack (his valuation by asserting that Slutry’s

business was “new and untried, and in its brief history resulted in nothing but

9
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failure.” Muse Dets.’s Br. 3, In so arguing, the sole controlling authorily the Muso
Defendanis cite is Pollock v. Morelli, 369 A.2d 458, 463 (Pa. Super. 1976),
Specifically, they point to the Pollock Court’s holding thet “Damages for lost
profits...cannot be awarded whero they are merely speculative.” fd. In Pollock, a

tenant utilizing a commercial rental space for his dry-cleaning business sued his

VLV VIT

landiord for breach of the covenant of quiet enjoymenit aftér the landlord’s’
renovation of the surrounding eea restricted parking access to the facility. /d. at
459-461. Tn holding that the tenant could not recover for allegedly lost profits, the
Superior Court explained that

Appellant sought to show a reduction of profits by introducing an

accountant who testified that the store's profits did not increase

according to his projections. The estimation of the anticipated

increase wus of necessity based only on the nine months of operation

preceding the construction which allegedly marked the beginning of

the decline of the business. The lower court found, and we agree, that

the basis for the accountant’s projections and estimation of increasing

profits is not established in the record. No foundation is laid for the

assumption that the business would increase annually or that it would

increase at the percentage the accountant estimated from the fixst few

months of operation. Conscquently we cannot permit a recovery for

lost profits.
Id. at 463 (emphasis added). As such, the present case is clearly distinguishable.
First, as previously noted the Plaintiffs’ award was for the value of the Hanson
contract at the time of transfer, and as such the Muse Defendants’ cited authorities
— all of which deal with fiifure earnings — are not entirely apposite. In any event,
John Frey’s estimations of the value of the Hanson contract were not
foundationless “assumption,” but were instead derived from the invoices supplied
to STO by Hanson, by Dennis Gold's estimated profit margins, and by the
caloulations made therefrom by John Frey. Trial Tr. Day {, 152-160; See also
Pls.” Ex. 32, 61, 70. Moreover, a review of the Hanson contract itself indicates
that it was structured such that STO would be safeguarded against assuming
losscs. Trial T, Day 1, 161-162. John Frey’s testimony regarding the valuation of
the Hanson contract was undoubtedly based to a certain extent upon his educated

ptojections, and as such his estimation of four-million odd dollars was by no

10
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means cnlirely certain. However, the facts in evidence were such that the jury was
free 10 reject the Muse Defendants’ assertion that the {lanson contract was totally
worthless al the time it was transferved, See General Dynafab, Inc. v. Chelsea
Industries, 447 A2d 958, 960 (Pa. Super, 1982) (holding that, even where

svidenoe submiited to a jury is not “entirely of an unspeculative nature, , ,if the

" jury believed it, it could have come to a reasohable defefmination ad to damépes ~
resulting from loss of future profits,” and ag such “the evidence should be
submitted to the jury to decide its weight[,1"}; See also Delahanty v. First
Nattonal Bank, N.A., 464 A.2d 1243, 1257 (Pa, Super. 1983) (while “the trier of
fact may not use sheet conjecture as a basis for arriving at a verdict, It may use a
mreasure of speculation in aiming at a vordict ot an award of damages,” and that
accordingly “mere uncertainty as to the amount of damages will not bar recovery
where It is clear that the damages wore the vesult of the defendan(’s conduct.”)

In sum, viewing the Musc Defendants’ claims through (he stringent lens of
analysis attendant to a request for judgment n,o.v., we are constrained to reject the
proposition thet the jury’s valuation of STO is shockingly insufficient or
speculative, We will decline to vacate the jury’s damage determinations on this
basis.

Opinion of Court dated June 13, 2016, 14-15, For the foregoing reasons, the Muse Defendants’

first issue i3 without merit and our Order of June 13, 2016 should be alfirmed in this respect.

The Muse Defendants’ second issue is whether “there was any evidence to support the
jury's verdict that Pilgrim Energy Company and Essum(sic] Partnership intentionally interfered
with any contractual relations of the Plaintiffs?” Muse Defs,’ Concise Stat. §2. We again
anderstand this issue as alleging that this Court erred in denying JNOV, In our Opinion of June
13, 2016, we disposed of this issue in the following fashion:

A cause of action for {ortlous interference of contract will lic if the
following four elements arc cstablished: (1) a contractual relationship exists; (2)
the defendant intends to haom the plaintiff by interfering with that contractual

relationship; (3) thexe exists no privilege or justification for such interference; and

11
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(4) damages result from the defendant’s conduct. Hemnesy v. Santiago, 708 A.2d
1269, 1278 (Pa. Super, 1998) (citing Triffin v. Jannssen, 626 A.2d 571, 574 (Pa.
Supcer. 1993). Contrary to the Muse Defendants’ assertions, thete was a
substantial amount of testimony and documentary evidence tendered by the

Plaintiffs that advanced the existence of contracts between the Freys and Golds,

W@yls/van

‘the Muse Defendanfs® intent to intetfere with those eonfracts, and resultant hachii
therefrom. See, e.g,, Bx. 1 (STO's pre-incorporation agreement, including an
employment agreement vis-A~vis John Frey); Ex. 2 (Operating agreement); Ex. 4
(Demand Note); Bx. 35 (Draft merger proposal which included a provision that
ESUM would have to approve aty payment made to the Freys); Trial Ti. Day 1

~ 108-111 (festimony of John Frey regarding Charles Muse’s inyolvement in his
termination); Trial Tr. Day 4, 101-102 (testimony of Rober! Frey regarding
Chatles Muse’s involvement in John Frey’s termination). Thus, the Muse
Defendants’ Motion cssentially asks the Court to variously discount, reject ot
ignote the Plaintiffs’ evidence. Given the exacting standard by which we must
evaluate a request for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, we will decline to do

. 50,
' Opinion of June 16, 2016, at 17-18. A review of the record has not revealed any reason to disturb

this determination, Accordingly, the Muge Defendants’ sﬁcond issue ig without merit and
judgment in this respect should be affirmed.

The Muse Dofendants® third through sixth issues assign crror to this Court’s upholding
the jury ve‘rdict entered against Pilgrim Energy Company with respect to the Plain(iffs’ UFI'A
claims. Specifically, issue three (3) asks whether there was “any cvidence to support the jury’s
verdiet,” issue four (4) asks whether the jury’s verdict may stand in light of Pilgrim Energy’s
being “the transfetee of the property alleged to have been transferred,” issue five (5) asks
whether the verdict may stand “when the evidence regarding damages was speculative at best,”
and issue six (6) asks whether the verdict may stund “given the speculative nature of the
assets[.]"” Muse Defs. Concise Stat, § 3-6. Additionally, the Muse Defendants tenth (10) issue

12
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usks whether there was “suflicient evidence to support the jury's verdict that Pllgtim Energy was
liable for violations of the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act?™
Th resolving the Muse Defendants requests for post-verdict relief, this Court has

previously found that the Muse Defendunl(s’ arguments regarding the sufficiency of evidence

surrounding the UPTA claims were waived for the reason that thoy failed to develop the
arguments with sufficient particularity, See Opinion of Junc 16, 2016, p.18 (“Absent any citation
iyhatsoever by the Muse Defendants to the record, and absent any citation to any legal authority
other then & passing reference lo one particular provision of the UFTA, it is difflcult to imagine
how the Court might go about responding to the Muse Defendants’ arguments on their meriis™),
In their post-verdict flings, the Muse D.cfcndants appeared to argue that the evidence
sutrounding the Plaintiffs’ UFTA. claims was insufficient for the solo reason that the assets
transferred to Pilgrim were indispulubly worthless, and accordingly damages were hot
sufficiently proven, As such, by asserting there was insufficient evidence to uphold the verdict
with respect to the UFTA claim, the Muse Dofendants do little more than reassert their first issue
that the assets transterred to them at the time of the sheriff’s sale (1., STQ, the most notable
asset of which was the Hanson coniract) were worth nothing, See Opinion of June 16, 2016, p.19
(*'As best as the Court can guess, the Muse Delendants attempt to bootstap their assertion that
the Ilanson confract was indisputably worthless onto a sufficiency of the evidence argument vis-
A-vis the Plaintiffs’ UFTA claim”), To the extent Muse Defendants’ instantly-asserted third issue

questions the sufficiency of the evidence surrounding the UFTA claim in some other respect, we

1T the extent that the Muse Defendants’ third and tenth issues present distinct assertions of eiror, we understand
the former as taking issue with this Court’s denlal of INOV and the luttor as taking issue with this Cowt's denia! of
summary judgment. While the following analysis focuses on this Court’s resolution of post-irlal motions rather than
pro-tril proceedings, we found the merits of the Muse Defendants® summary judgment request unavailing for
somewhat more substantive legal reasons. See Opinion of Court dated December 31, 2013, pp. 27-28.

13
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are wholly in the dark as to which precise elements the Muse Defendants believe the claim to be
lacking, end in any event any alternative basis for an ingufficiency argument has surely been
waived. See Pa. R,C.P. 227,1(b)(2). Indeed, the Muse Defendants’ fifth and sixth issues {(which

ate themselves roughly indistinguishable from each other) essentially testate the third issue (as

this Court undetstands i() insofar as they explicitly state that damages were insufMiciently
proven.®

The fourth issue, by contrast, calls into question whethex a “transferec” of assets “alleged

to have been transferred” cun be liable under the UFTA. Muse Defs. Concise Stat, § 4, A roview

of the record does not make clear at which stage in the [itigation of this case, if ever, the Muse
Deferidants have levied this precise argument before, and as such we preliminaily bolicve the i

. issue to be waived. Pa. R.C.P, 227.1(b). In any event, though certainly a novel argument, the

%
'

Muse Defendants’ apparent position thul a claim does not lie against the transferce of a voidable
transfer is explicitly contraty to the provisions of the UFTA's text:

§ 51 08, Defenses, liability and pratection of transferee
L] .

(b) Judgment for certain voidable fransfors.--Except as otherwise provided in this
seotion, to the extent a transfer is voidable in an action by a ereditor under section
5107(a)(1) (relating to remcedies of creditors), the creditor may tceover judgment
for the value of the asset transferred, as adjusted undet subsection (c), or the
amount hecessaty to satisfy the creditor's claim, whichever is less. The judgment
may be entered against.,.the first transterce of the nsset or the person for
whose benefit the transfer was made[.]

12 Pa. C.8.A. § 5108(b) (emphasis added), The mere fact that Pilgrim was a “transferee” rather
than a “debtor” within the meaning of the URTA does not bear on Pilgrim's llability for having

beon transferred the Hanson contract or any other STO asvet. See 12 Pa. C.S.A, §§ 5104, 5107,

§ A brief gumination of the avermonts and discovery evidence relied upon in our donial of the Muse Defendants'
toquest for summary judgmont can be found in owr Opinion of Court dated December 31, 2013, pp. 27-28.

14
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5108. Accordingly, the Muse Defendants’ fourth issue is likewise without meril, and judgment in
this respect should be affimed.
The Muse Defendants seventh issue is whether it was “an error of law (o permit éntry of a

judgment against the Defendants arising out of a putported transfer when the transfer at issue

occurfed at a shetif’s sale of the property at issue?”’ Muse Def. Concise Stat. 4 7. In our Opinion
of December 31, 2013, disposing of the Muse Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment, we
rejected the contention that effectuating a transfer of assets via a shetill"s sale immunizes the
transferee from oivil vonypirecy claims as foflows;

A civil conspiracy can be shown by a combination of lwo or more persons acting

with a common purpose to do a lawful act by unlawful means or for an unlawful

purpose... The fuct that the Muse Defendants were acting as a judgment creditor

does not imimunize them from being sved for a civil conspiracy. The execution

Sheriff’s Sele may have been a lawful act, but the Ptaintiffs allege that it was done

by unlawful means or for an unlawful purpose. . [Additionally,] Plaintiffs claim

that the sale oceurred without proper notice to Elaine Frey, so it could also have

been an unlaw{ul act,
Opinion of December 31, 2013 (citing Phillips v. Selig, 959 A.2d 420, 437 (Pa Super, 2008);
Landau v. Western Pennsylvania Nat. Bank, 282 A.2d. 335, 224 (Pa. 1971)). While the instant
asscrtion that some intrinsic property of sheriff’s sales should absolve the Muge Defendants of
linbility is not specifically couched in térms of the Plaintiffs’ civil conspiracy claims (indeed, the
complained-of “judgment..,arising out of a purported transfer” would scem to include the jury’s
award for civil conspiracy as well as those for fraudulent mistcpresentation, interference with
contractual relations, and violation of the UFTA), we believe the above-quoted logic applies with
equal force to all damages the jury determined the Plaintiffs to have endured by way of the Muse
Defendants’ pursuit of the sheeitfs salc. In any event, a review of the rocord does not indicate

that the Muse Defendants have raised the inherent legitimacy of the shexiff's sale as a defense at

any previous point in this litigatton, and sccordingly we believe the issue to be waived. See

15
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Berman v. Radnor Rolls, Inc., 542 A.2d 525, 529-530 (Pa. Super. 1988) (failure to develop
arguments via argument and briefs before the trial coust following an edverse vetdict results in
waiver of the issue during eppellate procecdings); See also Pa. R.C.P, 227. 1(b)(2) (failure to

raisc issue is post-trial motion results in waiver). For the foregoing reasons, we find the Muse

Defendanlts’ slt;,ven.th issue is v«;ithoﬁt m;?;‘l'it Iaﬁd j‘u';igmer;t in this re‘sfa‘e(;{shg){]lc.i be affirmed.

The Muse Defendants’ eighth issue asks whethet the Plaintiffs were “estopped or did
they otherwise waive the ability to claim that the sheriff's sale was improper when they failed to
participate in that sale?” Musge Def. Concise Stat. § 8, The Muse Defendants’ eighth issue
essentially ignores the nature of the Plaintiffs’ allegations surrounding the Defendants’ pursuit of
the sherils sale; i.e., the Plainttffs alleged thal they did not “fail to participate” in the sherffs
sale, but rather that they were precluded from participation in the sale as a result of the joint
mauhizlmtions of the Gold and Muse Defendants, Trial Tr. Day 1, p. 41, In light of (he verdict, it
would seem that the jury accepted the Plaintiffs’ version of facts, and glven the exacting
standards by which & request to disturb the jury’s findings must be adjudged, we sce no grounds
which would necessitate disturbing the jury’s findings. Hann, 103 A.3d at 69-70. Moreover, the
M}lse Dé;'bndams did not raise the issue of the Plaintiffs’ putported lack of diligence in
contesting the sheriff’s sale during post-trial proceedings, and we therefore construe the issue as_
having been walved. See Berman 542 A.2d at 529-530 (failure to develop argumenis via
argut'nent and briefs before the trial court following an adverse verdict results in waiver of the
issue dur{ng appoellate proceedings) See alyo Pa. R.C.P. 227.1(b)(2) (failure lo raise issue is post-
trial motion results in waiver), Accordingly, the Muse Defendants’ eighth issue is without merit,

The Muse Defendants’ ninth issue questions the sufficiency of the ovidence “to support

the jury’s finding that Pilgrim Energy Company aod Esum Partnership No, 2 were liable for civil

16
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conspiracy[.]” A question as to the yufficiency of the evidence i a clajm for conspiracy is one
for the trial judge, who must preliminarily determine whether there is sufficient evidence of an
unlawful agreement such that the case should be submitted to a jury. Rosenblum v. Rosenblum,

181 A. 583, 584-585 (Pa. 1935). In this Court’s Opinion of December 31, 2013, we denied the
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Muse Defendant’s request for summary judgmnt on this issue as follows:

After reviewing the numerous depositions and documents attached as
exhibits to the Plaintiffs’ Brief in Opposition to Motion for Summéry Judgment of
the Muse Defendants as well as the record, it is clear that there remain issues of
genuine material fact for the Trier of Fact to resolve as to whether or not a civil
conspiracy existed.

A civil conspiracy can be shown by a combination of two or rmore persons
acting with a common purpose to do a lawful act by unlawful means or for an
unlawlul purpose. Phillips v. Selig, 959 A.2d at 437. The fact that the Muse
Delendants were acting as a judgment creditor does not immunize them from
being sucd for a civil conspiracy. The execution Sheriff's Sale may have been a
lawful acl, but the Plaintiffs allege that it was done by unlawful means or for an
unlawful purpose. See Landau v. Western Pennsylvania Nat. Bank, 282 A.2d.
335, 224 (Pa. 1971). Plaintiffs claim that the sale occurred without proper notice

"to Elaine Frey, so itcould also have been an unlawful act. .

Additionally, in Landau, the Plaintiff made only a “single, vague, and

- conclusory allegation that the mot{gagee and lessee have ‘conspired’ (o the

delriment of the mortgagors,"” the Penusylvania Supreme Court held that “falls far
short of the requisite pleading of the malerial (acts.” 282 A,2d at 225(Complaint

 stated, “Plaintiff has conspired with the Kroget Co. to limit the value of the

subject property at foreclosure and by doing so has adversely affected
Defendant’s rights."). As this Court stated in overruling the Muse Defendants’
preliminary objectionsl,]

[We] do not believe that the [Muse Defendants’ relied-upon authority]
Landau v, Western Pennsylvania National Bank, 445 Pa, 217, 282 A.2d
335 (1971) applies here, In Landau, the Court stated that tho underlying
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act upon which the plaintiff based his conspiracy claim was lawful. /d.,

- 445 Pa. at 224, 282 A.2d at 339, Therelote, a conspiracy could only exist
if said lawful act was done by unlawful means or for an unlawful purposc.
Id. The Court found that the pleadings were insufficient to ostablish a
conspiracy. Here, however, the Complaint is [raught with allegations of
fraud. For instance, as the Plaintiffs point out in their brief in opposition to
the preliminaty objections, the Plaintiffs allege that Dennis Gold and

K018/938

Chatles-A-MuseJro-individually-und-us-Prosident-of defendant ilgrim,—
conspired and agreed to {erminate the employment of John Frey from STO
and to freeze out the Freys from further involvement in the business and
affairs of STQ, all in the hopes of compelling the disgorgement of Blaine
Frey’s forty percent (40%)) interest in STO and precluding the Frey’s from
participating in anticipated future profits.

Opinion and Order of Court dated January 20, 2004, The Court holds that based
on the depositions and exhibits attached to the Plaintiffs’ Brief in Opposition to
Motion for Summary Judgment, there are issues of eredibility and genuine issues
of material fact to be determined as to whether or not the [Freys] were informed

of the Sheriff's Sale, whether or not the Freys were prevented from viewing
critical financial information, whether ot not the travel/personal account of M.
Gold was used to commingle funds from the same company, the purpose for
which Mr, Muse created [STI], the purpose o} the loans from ESUM to STO,
whether (he Golds and the Muse Defendanls benefited from the venture of [STI],
ete. These issucs of credibility cannot be resolved through depositions alone.

. The Musc Defendants also argue that the Freys have suffered no damages

and thus no conspiracy claim exists. The Court holds that the Muse Defendants
have not foreclosed the possibility of damages. Plaintiffs argue that at the time of
the Sheriff’s sale, the Freys had instituted a lawsuit seeking to recover, “Elaine’s
investment ($150,000,00), the failure to pay John his salary during his time of
employment ($85,000), the loans to the company ($15,500), the credit card debl

(344,000),” Pls’ Br. in Opp. to Mot. for Sum. J. of the Muse Def.’s, P. 26. It is

unclear what profits the Hansen contract made in relation to the companies’

expenses ay the four year discovery delay ended with Dennis Gold stating that [he

did not actually posscss the invoices in guestion, despite his having indicated to

18
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the contravy for five years’]. [Plaintif(s point] the court to Merriweather v.
Philadelphia Newspapers, where the Pennsylvania Superior Court reversed a
Trial Court’s grant of Summary Judgment when the non-moving party should
havc been entitled to the benefit of the adverse infercnee that the headline writer

and reviewer were not identified, but were witnesses within the exclusive control

" of Appéllecs. The Court stated, “[a]ccordingly, Tor Stunmary judgiment purposes, -
this allegation must be afforded the inference that these persons ave missing
witnesses and that their testimony would be adverse to Appellees.” 684 A.2d 137,
142 (Pa. Super. 1996). Here, the Plaintiffs are entitled to the inference that the
invoices/documents regarding (he [Hanson] contract would have been advorse to
the moving party since the moving patty has refused to produce them in direct
c¢ontcmpt of a Court Order. Thus, Summary Judgment is not appropriate as there
remain genuine issues of material fact {o be determined as to any damages
flowing from the civil conspiracy claim.
Opinion of Coutt dated December 31, 2013, pp. 23-26. See also Opinion of Court dated June 13,

2016, pp. 20-22 (denying request for INOV on civil conspiracy claims), A roview of the record
does not endow upon this Court a reason to disturb our previous determinations, and accordingly,
we find that the Muse Defendants’ ninth issue is without ierit,

The Musc Defendants’ eleventh issue asserts that the Coust should “have molded the
verdict entered against the Defendants on the Plaintiffs’ claim fﬁr violation of the [Uniform]
Traudulent Transfer Act[,]” Duting post-(rial proceedings, the Muse Defendants asserted a right
to a molded verdict under two differént theories. See Muse Defs.” Br, in Support of Post-Trial
Mot, 9-12. First, they asserted that because the assets of STO (most notably the Hanson contract)

were indisputably worthless, the vetdict should be molded to zero. [/ at 9-10. We rejected this

claim following an identical rationale with which we rejected all of the Muse Defendants’ other

7 See Section 111, infta.
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arguments that hinged upon the supposedly irrefutable impoverishment of STQ, See Opinion of
Court dated June 13, 2016, at p, 22 n.10. |
Additionally, the Muse Defendants have previously argued that the verdict should be

molded downward because the UFTA’s provisions regatding the protection of trapsferees should

o20/038

operate to limit the Plaintiffs’ recovery to an amount connnenSurat:e with .thc Plain’éi.ff;’ claims
against the debtor (i.c., STO and (he other Gold Defendants). Muse Defs.’ Br, in Support of Post-
Tral Mot, 9-10, The relied-upon statutory provision reads as follows:

§ 5108. Defenses, liability and protection of transferee

Herdt &
(b) Judgment for certala voidable transfers.--Except as otherwise provided in
this section, to (he extent a transfer is voidable in an action by a creditor undet
section $107(a)(1) (relating to remedies of creditors), the creditor may recover
judgment for the value of the asset transferred, as adjusted under subsection (v),
or the amount necessary to satisfy the creditor's claim, whichever is less,
IiFH

(¢) Measure of recovery.-If the judgment under subscction (b) is based upon the
value of the asset transferred, the judgment must be for an amount equal to the
value of the asset at the tlme of the transter, subject to adjustment as the equities
: may require.
12 Pa, C.S.A. § 5108 (emphasis added), In essence, the Muse Defendants’ request to mold the
veediot downward hinges upon the notion that many of the Plaintiffs® claims against the Gold
Defendants were metitless. Opinion of Court dated June 13, 2018, at p. 23 (noting that the Muse
Dcfendant’s brief in support of post-trial motions argued “that STO was not liable for fraudulent
misrepresentation, intentional interference with contractual relations, or civil conspiracy, and
accordingly ‘aski'ng the Court to reduce the verdict so that it does not include damages against the
Muse Defendants reflective of those claims"). We detetmined this argument to have been
previously wajved by way ol the Muse Defendants’ fajlure to ralsc it during preliminary

objections, summary judgment, the entrance of sanctions against the Gold Defendants, the

submission of proposed points for charge, or at any other stage of proceedings:
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[The] Muse Defendants’ newfound inferest in the liability of the Gold Defendants
does rot previously appear anywhere of record. Indeed, owr Order of November
26, 2012 tesolved the igsue of the Gold [Defendants’] liability, end the Muse
Defendants failed to object (o thut Ordor both prior to and following its entry. If
there ever was a time for the Muse Defendants to raise their concern that
precluding evidence relating to STQ's liability would impact their own ebility to
defend against UFTA claims, their window for doing so surely expired long

beforethe-post=verdict-context-in-which-these-concerns-are-now-raised-for-the-first
time. Moreover, the Muse Defendants were free to present evidence relating o the
amount of demages resulting from STO’s conduct, and they do not presently
identify anything in the record indicating that thoy cver did so such that they
might be entitled to the relief they now seek,

Opinion of Court dated June 13, 2016, at 23-24; See also Pa, R.C.P. 227.1(b)(1) (in order lto be
eligible for post-trial xelief, the movant must have made the request, if available, “in pre-irial
proceedings or by motion, objection, point for charge, tequost for findings of fact or conolusions
of law, offer of proof or other appropriale method at trial’), Accordingly, we find the cleventh
issue ruiscd by the Muse Defendants to be without merit, and judgment in this respect should be
atfirmed.

The Muse Defendants’ twelfth issue assigns crror to this Court's “awarding the Plaintiffs
prejudgment interest on their claims[.]” Muse Defs,” Concise Stat. 12, in this Court’s Opinion
of June 13, 2016, we supported our award of prejudgment interest on the UFTA as follows:

The Plaintiffs next request the Court to add prejudgment interest for the
jury's award against the Muse Defendants pursuant to the UFTA. Pls, Br, 6-7; Pls.
Br. in Opposition 20-22. While there is scant controlling authority directly on the
propriety of a post-verdict award of prejudgment interest in context of an uclion
brought under the UFTA, the Plaintiffs have identified two occasions where
ledoral trial courts have found such an award to be approptiate. In re Blansiein,
260 B.R, 698 (E.D. Pa. 2001); Tiab Communications Corp. v. Keymarket of Nepa,
Inc., 263 F.Supp.2d 925 (M.D. Pa. 2003),

Muso Defendants angwer that, because the UFTA claims are not contract

claims, prejudgment intetest is not available as of right. Muse Defs. Br. in
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Opposition 14-15. According to the Muse Defendanis, “prejudgment interest” in
the context of non-liquidated harms und circumstance-dependent cases (e, tort
claims rather than contract claims) is a concept botter characterized as damages
for a parly’s delay. Jd. The Muse Defendants citc Robert Wooler Company v.
Liduciary Bank for the proposition that, “[t]o the extent that prejudgment interost

is recoverable in tort cases, it Is more accurately Identified as compensation for
delay.” 479 A.2d 1027, 1034 (Pa. Super. 1984) (clting America Enka Co., v.
Wicaco Machine Corp., 686 F.2d 1050, 1056 (3d. Cir. 1982); Marrazzo v,
Scranton Nehi Bortling Co., 263 A.2d 336 (Pa 1970)). Relying on Philadelphiy
Drying Machinery Company, v. Kummeérer, they moreover contend that requests
for delay damages in tort claims are necessarily fact-intensive, and as such
questions relating to the proptiety of such an award must be submitted to the jury.
56 Pu, Super. 24, 31 (1913).

Indeced, one of the main points of contentions is whether ot not 2 UFTA
claim does, in fact, constitute a “tort.” Plaintiffs argue that “a UFTA claim is not a
tort claim, and the Muse defendants cite to no case that says it Is,” and that rather
than sounding in tort, a UFTA action “is a claim pursuant to a statute.” Pis. Bt. in
Opposition, 20 (emphasis o'ﬁginai). ‘The Muse Defendants counter that “Any civil
action that’s not a contract action {s a tort.” Post Sentence Tr., 14,

In the Couri’s estimation, both of thege arguments rely upon sorac
moasure of overstatement. We cannot agrce that the mere codification by the
logislature of a particular type of fraud has the effect of completely re-
churacterizing it as entirely non-tortious; on the other hand, even a cursory review
of the Pennsylvania Rules of Civil procedure reveals many types of non-contract
claims beating little similatity to the traditional notion of what constitutes a tort.
Cf, e.g., PaR.C.P. 1901 - 1959 (governing proceedings held pursuent to the
domestic relations code); with Black’s Law Dictionary 1626 (9th ed. 2009)
(defining, inter alia, “tort” ag “a breach of duty that the law imposes on persons
who stand in particular relation to one another”). In any event, we will not herein
engage in the thomy endeavor of defining which actions sound in tort and those

which do not. See id (quoting Keeton et al., The Law of Torts § 1, at 2-3) (“It
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might be possible to define a tort by enumerating the things that it is not. It is not
a crime, It is not & breach of contract. It is not necessarily concerned with property
rights or problems of government...But this again is illusory, and the conception
of & sort of legal garbage-can to hold what can be put nowhere else is of no help.

Tn the flrst place, tort is a ficld which pervades the entire law, and is so

interlocked at every point with property, contract and other accepted
classifications that, as the student of the law soon discovers, the categories are
quite arbitrary.”)

Instead, we accept as persuasive the holdings in Blatstein and Tiab (hat
prejudgment interest Is available as a post-triel remedy in 8 UFTA claim. See
Blatstein, 260 B.R. al 721 (discussing Pennsylvania’s “flexible approach” to
deciding prejudgment intorest awards in novel conlexts) (citing Murray Hill
Estates, Inc. v. Bastin, 276 A.2d 542, 545 (Pa, 1971)). The Muse Defendants,
relying on a coase from 1919, inslst that prejudgment intexest in non-contract
claims are a question for the jury’s determination. See Philadelphia Drying
Machinery Co., 56 Pa. Super, At 31, However, their more recent telied-upon
authority itself suggests that “the decided trend of courts of law and courts of
equity has been to break away from hard and fast rules and charge and allow
interest in accordance with principles of equily, in order to accomplish justice in
each particular case,” Rohert Wooler Co.,, 479 5.2d st 1036 (quoting McDermott
v. McDermott, 196 A, 889, 890 (Pa. Super. 1938)). Indeed, in Robert Wooler
Compary, the Superior Court made no determination as to whether post-irial
prejudgment interest would have been appropriate; rather, the Superior Court
semanded simply because the trial Court failed to make any on-record
justification of the award whatsoever, Se¢ 479 A.2d at 1036-37,

Having determined that a successful claimant in o UFTA action may be
awarded prejudgment interest in a general sense, we initially note that the Parties
have tendered little in the way of argument as to why prejudgment inlercst might
or might not be appropriate in the instant case, Unlike in most contract cases,
where the amount of damages is liquidated at the time of the accrual of the action

(and accordingly prejudgment existence may be had ag a matter of right), in non-
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contract cases prejudgment interest is an equitable remedy awarded at the
discretion of the trial court. Blatstein, 260 B.R. ut 721 (citing Somerset Cmy.

' Hosp. v. Allan B. Mjtchell & Assoc., 685 A.2d 141, 148 (Pa, Super. 1996)). “In
cases where there is no controlling precedent, the Pennsylvania Supreme Court

has encouraged courts to take a flexible approach in deciding whether to award

prejudgment interest.” Blatstein, 260 B.R. at 721 (citing Murray Hill Estates, Inc.
v. Bastin, 276 A.2d 542, 545 (Pa, 1971)). Whether such an award is appropriate is
guided by the following four factors! (1) whether the claimant has been less than

diligent in prosecuting the action; (2) whether the defendant has been unjustly | o

ewriched; (3) whether an award would be compensatory; (4) whether

countervailing equitable considerations mililule apainst a surcharge. Tiab, 263
F.Supp.2d at 947 (citing Feather v, United Mine Workers, 711 F.2d 530, 540 (3d
Cir. 1983)). Having considered these factors, we make the following findings:
1, The Plaintiffs have diligently prosecuted this action. While this case has
: oo been the subject of roughly one-and-a-half decades’ litigation, this delay
e ﬁ has been largely the result of the Gold Defendants’ dilatory discovery
practices, See Drone Technolngies, Inc. v. Parrot §.4., 2015 W1, 3756318,
*11 (W.D. Pa. 2015) (“Plainti{f has been diligent in prosecuting the action
despite Defendants' dilatory actions™),
2. 'The Muse Defendants have undoubtcdly been unjustly enriched by Lhe
transfer which was the subject o the UPTA claim, in light of the jury’s
verdict, See Calbex Mineral Ltd. v. ACC Resources Co., L.P., 90
F.Supp.3d 442, 467-68 (W.D. 2015) (“To the extent defondant has had the
free use of the income~producing ability. .. without having to pay for it, he
has been unjustly entiched. To divest defendant of this unjustified benefit
Is not to penalize him, for it hag been determined by the trial that it was
never rightfuily his") (citing Feather, 711 F.2d at 540).
3. Interest is compensatory in light of the fact that the transfer in question
(i.e., the purchase of STO at the sheriffs” sale) deprived the Plaintiffs the
ability to work at STO and make moncy off of the Hanson contract in the
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intettm, €, Calbex Mineral Lid, 90 F.8upp.3d at 468 (citing Bradford-
White v. Ernst & Whinney, 1990 WL, 48305, *4 (E.D, Pa. 1990)).

4. ere, we find thera is one principal countervailing equitable consideration
that militules against a suroharge: nemely, 1t has primaetily boen the
conduct of the Gold Defendants, tather than the Muse Defendants, which

has resulted in the substantial delay of this case. Cf. Drone Technologles,

7015 WL1756318 at *11 (holding a defendant who themselves cansed the

delay responsible for delay damages).
See Feather, 711 F.2d at 540. Acoordingly, we find that an award of prejudgment
intevest is spproptiate. However, in light of the countervalllng equitable
consideration we have identified (7., that Muse Defendants arc lesg responsible
for the case’s delay than aro the Gold Defendants), we will accept the Muse
D.cfcndants’ [nvitation to surcharge than at a tate lower than the maximum
statutory interest rate of 6%, See Muse Defs. Br. in Oppositlon, 15-16 (noting that
slatutory rate i§ the maximum altéwable rate and not necessarily mandatory); Sae
alyo 41 P.8. § 202, Under the circurnstanoes, we find that an award of
prejudgment interest at the rate of 3% prejudgment interest is appropriate,

Opinjon of Court dated June 13, 2016, pp, 27-41. In light of the foregoing, we find that our

awatd of prejudgment Interest on tho Plaintiffs’ UFTA oleim was approptiate, sud as such we
believe that the Muse Defendants’ twelfth lssue is without merit,

The Muse Defendants’ issucs thirteen and fourteen ate general allegations of error that
take exception to this Contt’s denial of INOV and suramary judgment (“Did the Court eir by not
vucating the judgmenty entered against the Defendants™” and *“Were the judgments ontered
against the Dofendants supported by sufficient evidence?"), Muse Defs.” Conelse Stat, 1§ 13-14,
Given the foregoing analysis of our previous determinations duriﬁg voth the summary judgment

and post-irial stage of proceedings, we will not herein address these catch-all assertions of error

with any furthet pasticularity,
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For the foregoing reasons, we deterimine the Muse Defendunts® assignments of exror to be
without meri{ and respeetfully request that the judgment rendered against them be affirmed.
x

The Gold Defondants raise 3even (7) issues on appeal. We address these assignments of

- ertor seriatim, analyzing certain issues together where it is sensible to do so.

The Gold Defendants’ first issue assigns error to this Court’s imposition of sanctions
against the Gold Defendents on August 4, 2010, again on Match 20, 2011, and most significantly
on November 26, 2012, Gold Dcfs.” Cone, Stat, §1," The assertion of extor, reproduced verbatim,
is that:

The evidence did not cstablish that each of the Defendants wrongfully and

willfully failed to respond to discovery requests or, respecting documents that

they possessed which were responsive to discovery requests, that each failed to

inake such documents available for inspectlon, or that each withheld those

documents from production. In this regard, the evidence did not establish that

each of these Defendants possessed but withheld documents that the court had

ordered to be produced, The nature and severity of the sanctions were excessive

and not supported by the facts or the law.

Gold Defs.” Conclse Stat. §1.

The inereasing range of sanctions imposed against the Gold Defendants were initiated by
the Court's Otder of December 27, 2007, wherein we disposed of a Motion to Compel by the
Plaintiffs and ordered the Defendants to (1) serve full and complete Answers to the
Interrogatories, (2) serve a response to a Request for Production of Documents, and (3) make

fifteen specified boxes of documents available to the Plaintifl for inspection and copying on ox

before January 25, 2008, See Opinion and Order dated August 3, 2010 (entered August 4, 2010),

» he Gold Defendants also assign ercor to this Court's refusal to revisit those decislons in our Jimo 13, 2016 Order.
Gold Dels.” Concise State. 1.
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‘The Gold Defendants failed to comply with the terms of this Court's December 27, 2007
Order, prompting the Plaintiffs to file a Motlon for sanctions on September 2, 2008, On
December 31, 2008, this Court issued a second Qrder, again directing the Gold Defendants lo

serve [ull and complete angwers to the Plaintiffy' Interrogatorics, serve a response to the

Qdou27/028

Plaintiffs’ Request for Production of Documents, and to make the same specific documents
~available (o the Plaintiffs for inspection or copying, this ime affixing e deadline of March 2,
2009. The December 31, 2008 Order impressed upon the Gold Defendants the impori of
complying with the Court’s discovery Orders via the following warning:

If the Gold Defendants fail to [comply with the texms of this Order], upon motion,
this Court will issuc appropriate sanctions, which may Include dismissing the
remaining counterclaims of the Gold Defendants, and precluding evidence of ull
affirmative defenses or in support of new matter ag set forth in the Answer, New
Matter and Counterclaim of the Gold Defendants,

Otder of Court dated December 31, 2008, at { 1-3. The Plaintiffs flled a Motion for Sanctions
on Aptil 19, 2010, alleging that the Gold Defendants continued to opevate in defiance of this
Cowst’s previous discovery Orders. In granting (he Plaintiffs 1'equest,'wc noted that Pa, R.C.P,
4019 allows for sanctions when:

(i) a party fails to serve answexy, sulficient angwers or objections Lo written

interrogatories under Rule 4005;
LY

(vii) u patty, in response to a request for production mede under Rule 4009, fails
to respond that ingpection; or

(viii) 2 party otherwise fails to make discovery or to obey an order of court
respecting discovery.

See Order of Court Dated August 3, 2010 at unnumbered pages 2-3. Rule 4019 further provides
that in the event sanclions arc warranted, such sanctions may include:

(1) an order that the matters regarding which the questions were asked, or the

character or description of the thing or land, or the contents of the paper, or any

other designated fact shall be taken to be established for the purposes of the action
in accordance with the claim of the parly obtaining the order;
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(2) an order refusing to allow the disobedient party to support or oppose
designhated claims or defenses, or prohibiting such party from ititroducing in
evidence designated dooumnents, things or testimony, or from introducing
evidence of physical or mentul condition;

(3) an order striking out pleadings or parts thereof, or staying further proceedings
until the order is obeyed, or entering & judgment of non pros ot by default against
the disobedient party or party advising the disobedience;

MK

(5) such order with regard to the failure to male discovery as 1s just.
Pa. R.C.P. 4019(c); See also Ordet of Court dated August 3, 2010 at unmumbered page 3. In
deciding to impose sanctions on .Augus,t 3, 2010, we noted that {he decision to sanction a party
for a discovery violation and the severily of the sanction are vested in the sound discretion of the
trial court, Judge Technica! Services, Inc. v. Clancy, 813 A.2d 879, 889 (Pa. Super. 2002), A
{tial court should not impose sanclions for failure to allow discovery unlcss 2 pasty has
disregarded or disobeyed a court order. Stern v. Vic Snyder, Inc., 473 A2d 139, 146 (Pa. Super,
1984), Morcover, we noted that our analysis was guided by the following five factors: (1) the
nature and severity of the discavery violation, (2) the defaulting party’s willfulness or bad faith,
(3) prefudice to the opposing party, (4) the ability to cure the prejudicc, and (5) the importance of
the precluded cvidence in light of th;’: failute to comply. Judge Technical Services, 813 A2dat
889. We applied these factors as [ollows:

(1) The nature and severity of the discovery violation is such that Defendants
have violated two court orders, resulting in a two year delay in getting the
documents to the Plaintills,

(2) The defaulting party’s willfulness or bad faith does not seem to be notubly
egregious in this case. While the Defendants ate not in compliance with the court
order, they did serve angwers, albeit incomplete ones to the [Plaintiffs’]
[nterrogatories, and both parties concede that the Defendant did make attempts,
albeit inconvenient and possibly inappropriate, to create a situation where the
Plajntiffs could review the docurnents,

(3) The prejudice to the opposing party is significant. The Plaintiffs assert that
the documents which they have not been permitted to access include information
related to specific multi- million dollar contracts. These contracts are the basis for
this action, and it was the seouring of the contracts that the Plaintiffs allege
spured the majority shareholder Defendants to conspire 10 frecze the minority
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shareholder Plaintiffs out of the corporation. The documents at {ssuc include bow
the price per share for the corporation was calculated, without which the Plaintiffs
do nol have the means necessary to calculate a figure for damages.

(4) The ability to curc prejudice is possible if the Gold Defendants would
comply with a future oxder of the court, although they have proven reluotant to do
$0. The two year delay, however, has already hampered the successful
completion of this matter,

(5) Theimportance-of-precluded-evidence-ts-significant-as-the-dosuments-detail

the coniracts which are the subject matter of the possible freezing out of the

minority shareholders in this matter,
Order of Court duted August 3, 2010 at unnumbered pages 5-6, Accordingly, the Court again
directed the Gold Defendants to comply with the requitements of our December 31, 2008 and
December 27, 2007 Orders, this time allowing the Gold Defendants thirty (30) additional days to
comply, We moreover imposed the sanctions contemplated in the Court’s Decembet 31, 2008
Order; namely, we (1) dismissed any remalning counterclaims Jevied by the Gold Defendants,
(2) precluded the Gold Defendanis from introducing evidence relating to certain affirmative
defenses or in suppoti of their New Mattet. Order of Court dated August 3, 2010 at unnumbered
pages 6-7.

Following our Qrder of August 3, 2010, the Plaintifls filed 2 Motion to Held Defenidants
Dcnnis and Bonny Gold in Contempt and Motion for Attorney Fees on January 19, 2011, After
conducting argument thereon, this Court granted the Plaintiffs’ Motion on March 29, 2011

“-(entél‘ed March 30, 2011). In so doing, our analysis of the {ive-factor Judge Technical Services

test was substantially identical to that contained in out August 3, 2010 Order. We largely
accepted the Plaintiffs’ allegations that, inter alla, “despite clear and unequivocal court orders to
provide discovery which they have evaded for nearly four years, Gold Defendants persist in
failing to produce documents critical to Plaintiffs’ prosecution of this case[,]" and that the “Gold
[Defondants’] responses or lack thereof during the discovery process is a transparent effort to

make it as expensive, burdensome and confused a3 possible,” Order of Coutt dated March 29,
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2011 at unnumbered page 3: Specifically, we found that the Gold Defendants” offer to tender the
documents to the Plaintiffs by allowing the Plaintiffs to teview “over twenty boxes at Cherrytree
Mini' Storage, [which] contains no electricity, where [the Gold Delendants| would be willing to

open the storage unit al a reasonable time” was “inconvenient and possibly inappropriate.” /d, at

[o3o/o3e

unnumbered Ipages 3-5. We moreover noted their continuing refusal to answer certain
interrogatordes despite having been specifically ordered to do sa on three separate occasions
spanning nearly four years. /2. at unnumbered page 3. Accordingly, we found the Gold
Defendants in contempt, allowing thom to purge themselves of conterapt by producing all of the
docu{nents in question within twenty (20) days, and moreovet required that they pay $1,000.00
in attorney fees. Id. at unnumbeted page 3-6.

On September 8, 2011, the Plaintiffs‘ filed & Motion to knforce Contempt and for
Additional Sanctions and for Attorney Fees, Argument and an cvidentiary heating were held
thereon, On November 26, 2012, we granted the Plaintiffs’ Motion, and in so doihg, rendered the
xbub"»;;iqg factual findings:

On April 13, 2011, es & result of the March 29, 2011 Order of Court, the
Gold Defendants forwarded via Federal Express a letter, a check for $1,000.00
and four large boxes of documents, Upon review of the documents, both by
Plaintiffs' counsel and the Plaintiffs, it appeared that a large amount of the
documents produced in those four boxes wete in fact documents that the Plaintiffs
had previously produced to the Gold Defendants and that nonc of the documents
were those ordered fo be produced. Plaintiffs prepared an index of the documents
produced when they reviewed the boxes, which was admitted into evidence
during the evidentiary hearing, Following review of the documents contained in
the boxes, Plaintlffs’ attorney advised M. Gold, via letter dated July 12, 2011,
that he had failed to purge himself of contempt and thal he was providing Mr.
Gold with an additional ten days to comply. Mr. Gold then responded via letier
dated July 28, 2011 stating that ho had sent a second April 13, 2011 letter that did
comply with the March 29, 2011 Order of Court. On Oclober 17, 2011, Mt. and
Mits. Gold filed a vetified response to the Motion to Enforce Contempt, entitled
Response/Brief in Opposition of Motion for Sanctions. The Gold Defendants
testified as to the existence of the second April 13, 2011 letter and indicated that it
was attached as Exhibit E. However, there was no Exhibit E attached to the
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response and none was ever produced either at the argument or at the hearing,
Fventually, during the April 9th, 2012 hearing, Mr. Gold admitied that there was
no second April 13, 2011 {letfer], In a later lctter sent in October of 2011, Gold
Defendants asseried thal the documents that they had been ordexed to produce
were designated by “blue sheet" dividers with writing explaining what documents
followed. The Gold Defendants attempted to prove this via their son’s testimony
and the testimony of Ashley Baker during the evidentiary hearing. This assertion

@031/038

is-incontradiction-to-the-Tuly-28; 201 Hetter-stating-that-the-“sesond Apil-13;
2011 letter did the same thing. During the evidentiary hearing, Mr, Gold testified
that the Answer to the Frey Parties® first set of interrogatoties and request for
production of documents was the “sccond” April 13, 2011 letter he had previously
asserted had complied with the Court’s Order directing them to lube] documents
which provided answers to Interrogatories 1, 3, [and] 5. However, when
questioned futther, Mr. Gold admitted that specific Answer was verified and
prepared in 2010, before the most recent Court Ordet directing him to clearly

* identify the documents when produced, Next the Gold Defendants asseried at the
fixst evidentiary hearing that they forwarded a July 20, 2011 letter to [Plaintiffs’]
counscl that complied with the March 29, 2011 Order, which offered Plaintiffs an
opportunity to meet. However, when pressed further about the letter, Mr, Cold
stated that it had never actually been sent and instead was redrafted by an attorney
and was csentially the July 28, 2011 letter allepedly containing similex content
that was sent to [Plaintiffs'] counsel, However, the July 28, 2011 letter relies
wholly upon the now established as never existent “second” April 13, 2011
[letter], After review ol the document during testimony et the evidentiary
hearings, the content was not substentially similer. Tn all, Gold Defendants have
altempted numerous times to fabricate documents or utilize documents already in
existence in an effort to prove they have purged themselves of contempt, The
Gold Defendants have to this day failed to produce any documents relating to the
stock value determination of $7.64 per share, despite Mt. Gold testifying at his
deposition that he prepared the computations, have failed to produce STO's
billings and receivables and STQO receipts and payment, have failed to produce
general ledgers and bank statements and have failed to produce the Hanson
invoices, including audit information, after Defendant Charles Muse, in his
deposition, confirmed that the documents did exist and that they were prepared in
Franklin, Pennsylvanie, whete Mr. Gold petformed his work for (he Muse
Defendants.

Prior to the March 29, 2011 Order, the Gold Defendants and Plaintiffs’
counsel had repestedly corresponded dircctly regarding the documents ordered to
be produced, By letter dated March 12, 2009, Plaintiffs’ counsel wrote to the Gold
Defendants *“To the extent thege documents are not in your possession, please so
advise.” In a written response, the Gold Defendants did not so advise but instead
stated that counsel should “bring a flashlight, and a generator” to review thirty
boxes in an unlit storage (acility. At no time, prior to the current Motion did the
Gold Defendants assert that they do not have the documents end it is not clear
from the record whether they assert that these documents never existed, were lost,
were destroyed or are simply not being produced....
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The Gold Defendants did not comply with the Deoember 27, 2007 Order,
the December 31, 2008 Order, the August 3, 2010 Order and finally the March 29,
201} Order. The Gold Defondants produced to the Plaintiffs a check for
$1,000.00[,] [However,] they have continued to fail to produce the documents
requested by Plaintiffs and oxdered by the Court. The Coutt notes that the Gold.
[Defendants] now claim that they do not and never had the documents sought by
the Plaintiffs, However, the Court also notes that the last three Court Orders that

sanctioned-the-Gold-Defendants-were-fornot-producing-such-decuments-and-ifthe
documents were not in the Gold Defendants’ possession then they should [have]
so pled. Purthermore, the Gold Defendants at no time, despite being directly
asked by Plainti [Ty, informed the Plaintiffs...that they were not in possession of
the Hanson invoices. Therefore, the Gold Defendants have violated not only one,
but four Court Orders, making sanctions appropriatle in this case.

Opinion of Court dated November 26, 2012 at unnumbered pages 4-8, We then applied our
findings to the previously-discussed five-factor test contained in Judge Technical Services fot

asgessing requests for sanctions as follows:

(1] The nature and severity of the discovery violation is such that Gold
Defendanis have not only violated four Court Orders, resulting in almost a five
year delay in getting the requested documents to the Pluintiffs that they apparently
now state they never had, but they have also misled the Plaintiffs through five
years of discovery motions costing them a substantial amount of money in the
pursuit of documents and have wasted the Court's time for the past five years by
conducting argument on discovery motions related lo these documents.

[2] The defauiting party’s willfulness or bad faith can be viewed to be
notably egregious in this case. Ag stated hereiribefore, the Gold Defendants have
led the Plaintiffs through five years of discovery motions costing them significant
and repeated expensc in search of documents thal thoy now assert they never had,
they submitted false verifications and testimony at the hearings, they have failed
to produce computations that Mr, Gold himself testified at deposition that he
prepated for the $7.64 share value and they misled the Court by attempting to
pass off interrogatory answers filed in 2009, and modificd in 2010, which
themselves were found inadequate even then, as a current attempt to comply with
the previous Order. For an unknown reason and despite request from the
Plaintiffs, the Gold Defendants apparently felt it unnecessary to inforn either the
Plaintiffe or the Court of the fact that they did not have the documents being
sought.

[3] The prejudice to the opposing patty is significant, The Plaintiffs
assert that the documents which they have not been permilted to access included
information related to specific multi-million dollat contracts. These contracts are
the basis for this action, and it was the secuting of the contracts that the Plaintiffs
allege spurred the majority shareholder Defendants to conspire to freeze the
minority sharcholder Plaintiffs out of the corporution. The doouments at issue
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include valuable information which would assist the Plaintiffs in establishing the
velue of the business fiom which Plaintiffs assext that thay were imptopetly
excluded, Without the proper documetitation on how the price per shate for the
corporation was caloulated, the Plaintiffs do not have the means necessary to
calculate a figure for damages,

[4] The Gold Defendants do not poysess the ability to cure the
prejudice as they now assert that they do not have the documents to produce.

Therefore;they-would-not-be-able-to-provideto-the-Plaintiffe-the-documents-thoy:
have been requesting for the past five years that would provide the basig for the
damages in their action, The Court notes that it was determined during the
evidentiory hearing that the necessary discovery could be collected by conducting
a deposition of [anson Aggregales West, Inc., in Texas, which was previously
requested by Plaintifts end granted by the Coutf. However, the Court finds that
the Plaintiff’s decision not to subpoena the Hanson corporation does not in any
way purge the Gold Defendants of contempt as it would have cost the Plaintiffs an
upwards of $10,000 for documents that they were being led to believe existed in
either Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania or Franklin, Pennsylvania.

[5] The importance of the prechuded evidence is significant. The STO's
billings and receivables, STO’s receipts and payments would be offered by the
Plaintiffs to establish that STO had sufficient billings and receivables to satisfy
the indebtedness to the Muse Defendants, proving further that the Sheriff’s sale
was not 2 legitimate judgment execution. The geners! ledgers and bank statements
would be offered to establish that the Musc Defendants returned assels of STO to
the Gold Defendants from which they received money after the Sherl{f's sale as
further payment for the Golds® cooperation in the conveyance of the Hanson
coniract and STO business at the execution sale. The Court finds that the Gold
Defendants have been granted multiple opportunities to comply with its orders
[and] despite being repeatedly warned by this Court of the consequences of their
misconduct, have instead chose to misrepresent and verify untrue statements.

Opinion of Court dated November 26, 2012 at unnumbered pages 8-10 (cmphasis added).
Consistent with the findings and analysis contained in out November 26, 2012 Opinion, that
same date this Court Ordered as follows:

1. Judgment is enteted in favor of Plaintiffs and against Dennis Gold, Bonny

Gold, Slurry Technologiss Operating, LLC (*STO") and Slurry Technologies,
Inc. (“STI") on all claims included in this consolidated proceeding,

2. Evidence of expenses incurred in petformance of the Hanson contract is
hereby cxcluded at trial;
3. It is hereby deemed as establishod that STO received monies from

contracts and assets of STO returned to it subsequent to the Sherifi’s Sale of
December 19, 2001,
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4, It is hereby deemed as established that STQO’s billing to Hanson and
outstending receivables were adequate to satisfy any indebtedness to Pilgtim as of
the date of the Sheriff's Sale of December 19, 2001;

5. Tt is hereby deemed as estublished that the value of STO immediately prior
to the Sheriff’s Sale wasy at & minimum $7.64 per shate of all shares to be issued
and outstanding,.

8. Dennis and Bonny Gold must pay attorney fees in the amount of
$1.0,000:00-to-Plaintiffs-within-30-deys-o£this-Order.

I936/038

Order of Court dated November 26, 2012. A review of the record leaves this Court comfortable
that our factual determinations surrounding the Gold Defendants’ discovery conducl were
sufficiently supported by the testimony and other evidence, and moreover that our application of
the law governing requests for discovery sunctions was measured and reasonable. As such, we
find the Gold Defendants’ first issue to be without merit.

The second issue raised by the Gold Defendants differs from the first only insofar that it
asserts our sanctions should not have been entered against Bonny Gold specifically. Gold Defs,’
Concise Stat. § 2. We find this assignment of error unavailing for three reasons. First, the Gold
Defendants' failurc to distinguish between the prejudice suffeted by the Gold Defendants
generally and Bonny Gold specifically prior to their filing a post-trial motion results in waiver of
the issue undet Pa, R.C.P. 227,1(b)(1). Second, as we stated in disposing the Gold Defendants’
posi-trial motions, Bonny (old’s assettion that “her own involvement with the company was
limited” was not rclevant to our determinations with respect to discovety sanctions, which only
contamplaicd her involvement with the litigation, and not “the extent to which [she] may or may
not have been involved with day-to-day business operations.” Opinion of Couut dated June 19,
2016, Third, we reject on its own 1etmg the argument that Bonny 'Gold's partjcipation in the
discovery process was such that she should have been spared where Dennis Gold was not. See,
e.g,, Opinion of Coust dated November 26, 2012 at unnumbered page 3 (noting that “Mr. and

Mrs. Gold filed a verified response” to the Plaintiffs’ Motion to Enforce Contempt, and
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otherwise describing the “Gold Defendants™ as participating in discovery coextensively)
(emphesis added). Wo therefore find that the Gold Defendants’ second issue is without merit,
The Gold Defendants’ issues three theough six, which we consider together, are as

follows:

3, It is respectfully submitted that his Honorable Court erred in its denial
of Defendants’ motion for post-trial refief because the jury award was excessive,
punitive, and based on speenlative evidence, This Honorable Court erred by
directing the juty to award separate damages for civil conspirucy in favor of
Plaintiffs, John and Elaine Frey, and that this award had to be calculated based
upon the dollar vatue of Defendant, Slurry Technologies Operating, LLC, as of
December 19, 2001, and that this value could not be less than $7.64 por share of
stock. See, Verdiet §22. he damages erising from a civil conspiracy that was
formed 1o engage In tortious conduct are duplicative of the awards entered for the
damages ellegedly arising from the same tortious conduct that formed the
foundation of the alleged consplracy. An alleged conspiracy is not actionable
independent of the underlying clairs. To the contrary, the damages recoverable
on the conspitacy claim are the same damages recoverable for the underlying
torts. There can be only one recovery for these damages.

4.1t is respectfully submitted that this Honorable Court in its denial of
Defendants’ motion for post-trial relief because the jury award was excessive,
punitive, and based on speculative evidence as a regult of thiy Honorable Court’s
divection or permission for the jury to enter a separate award for intentional
interference with contractusl relations, (Verdict 113) even though these alleged
damages are duplicative of the damages that were awarded for the alleged
breaches of the very same contracts. The damages allegedly ariging from the
intentional interforence claim are not different from the damages for the breaches
of contract, There can be only one recovery for these damages.

5. It is respectfully submitted that this Court erred in its denial of
Defendant’s motion for post-trial rolief because the jury ward was excessive,
punitive and based on speculative evidence as a result of this Honorable Court’s
direction that the jury was to enter a separate award {o Plaintiffs, Robext G. Frey
and Sue Frey, and against the Defendants for civil conspiracy and by directing
that the minimum amount of the award could be no less then the amount under the
demand note, Verdiet §23. The jury should have been permilted to determine the
amount of their award, if any, without such e restriction, The amount awarded is

_not supported by any evidence, Moreover, the damages recoverable under the
alleged conspiracy to breach promises to pay the demand note are not different,
and cannot be greater, than the damages arising from the failurc to pay the note,
which amount was also awarded (Verdict §1). Conspitacy is not independently
actionable, There can orlly be one recovery for these damages,

6. It is respect{ully submitted that this Honorable Court erred it its denial
of Defendent’s motion for post-trial relief becanse the juty award was excessive,
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punitive and based on speculative svidence as a result of this Honorable Court’s
direction to the jury to enter an award in favor of Plaintiffs, Jobn and Elaine Frey,
on the ¢claim of fraudulent misrepresentation as these damages were duplicative of
{hc damages awarded for other alleged torts as sel forth in the verdict form 1§1-6,
13, 22-23, There can only be one recovery for these damages.

Gold Defs.’ Concisc Stat. §§3-6. Rather than address the substance of these issues, we believe it

enough to say they have been waived under Pennsylvania Rules of Civil Procedure 227(b),
227.1(b)(1) and 227,1(b)(2). Rule 227, which governs Exceptions takcn during tial, reads as

follows:

(a) It shall not be necessary on the trial of any action ox proceeding to take

exception to any ruling of the trial judge. An exception in favor of the party

against whom the adverse ruling was made shall be deemed to have been taken

with the same force and effect as if it had been requested, noted by the officiul

stenographer and thereafter written out, signed and sealed by the trial judge.

(b) Unless specially allowed by the court, all exceptions to the charge to the

jury shall be taken beforc the jury retires. On request of any party all such

exceptions and arguments thereon shall be made out of hearing of the jury.
Pa. R.C.P. 227 (emphasis addcd). Additionally, under Rule 227.1(b)(1), a court may not grant a
request for post-trial relicf unless the grounds therefor, “if then available, were ralsed in pre-trial
proceedings or by motion, objection, point for charge, request for findings of fact or conclusions
of law, offer of proof ox other appropriate method at triaf.” With respect to the Gold Defendants’
issue three, the Gold Defendants failed to object to the instruction on civil conspiracy either
during the discussion surrounding the Points for Charge or after the charge was given. See Trial
Ir. Day 6 at 226241, With vespeet to the Gold Defendants’ issuc three, the Gold Defendents
faled to object to the instruction on intentional interference with contractual relations either
during the discussion surtounding the Points for Charge or after the charge was given. Tr. Day 6

at 208-215, With respect to the Gold Defendants” issue five, the Gold Defendants failed to object

"o the instruction on ctvil conspiracy either during the discussion swrounding the Points for

36




7 LV/VE/LULD FRL LVID(  FAX $14 432 9579 VC Prothonotaxy R031/038

>

Charge or after the charge was given, Tt, Day 6 at 226-241. Finally, with respect to the Gold
Defendants’ issue six, the Gold Defendants failed to object to the instruction on fraudulent
misrepresentation either during the discussion surrounding the Points for Charge or after (he

oharge was given. Day 6 at 215-226°

. Moreover, Rule 227.1(b)(2) states that post-trial relief may not be granted unless the
gl‘ouﬁds thetefor “are specified in the motion. The motion shall state how the grounds were
asserted in pre-trial proceedings or at trial. Grounds not specificd are deemed waived unless
leave s granted upon cause shown to specily additional grounds.” The Gold Defendants failed fo
lodge any of these precise arguments in their request for posi-triaf relief, and as such we had no
occasion to consider them in our post-trial Opinion and Order, Ses Opinion of Coutt dated Junc
19, 2016 at 7-11, We therefore find them to be waived, and accordingly we find the Gold
Defendants' issues three through six to be without merit.

The Gold Defendants’ {inal issue assigns error to our awatd of prejudgment interest on
the Plaintiffs’ breach of contract olaim;

7. 1t is respectfully submitted that this Honorable Court erred in its June
13, 2016 order by molding the verdict to include an award for prejudgment
interest against the Defendants, Dennis Gold and Bonny Gold, on the breach of
contract claim (Order 6/13/16, Y3(c)) as the jury did not find that these
Defendants were ltable for this breach of contract claim (Verdict §5).
Gold Defs.’ Concise Stet. §7. We initially note that the Gold Delendants’ coneise
statement misstates the matter somewhat; the jury could not “find that these Defendants
were liable for this breach of contract claim,” beocause any issus relating to the liability of

the Gold Delendants wag foreclosed by this Court’s November 26, 2012 Order imposing

® The Geld Dofandants’ abjection to the Plaintiffs' proposed fraudulent mlsropresentation charge was limited (o iheir
wanting to clarify to the jury that their iability was foreclosed according to this Cout's discovery sanctions, and not
the result of some finding of fact. Telal Iy, Day 6 at 226-241.
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sanctions. The jury merely made a determination as to the amount of damages, See
Verdict §5. In any event, the Gold Defendants are correct that the vordict refleots that it {s
only STO that was held liable for the breach of contract claims, and gccordingly our June

16, 2016 Order should not have awarded prejudgment interest against Dennis and Bonny

G038/ 9 3Y

Gold. However, the Plaintiffs” praecipe to enter judgment reflects that judgment on the
breach of contract claims (including this Court's award for prejudgment interest therefor)
was only actually entered against STO. See Plaintifis’ Praecipe to Enter Judgment
Pursuant {0 Pa. R.C.P. 227.4(2) at 2, §3(a). As such, the error instantly complained of is
entirely harmless. See Hart v. Arnold, 884 A.2d 316, 325 n.2 (Pa Super 2005) (“an appeal
properly lies from the entry of judgement, not fron: the order denying post-trial motions);
See also 17 Std. Pq. Prac.2d § 92:87 (judgment entered upon a jury’s verdict should not
be distwrbed where the trial judge’s otherwise proper denial of post-trial motions contains
erroneous reasoning) (clting Brown v. Mel.ean Trucking Co., 256 A.2d 606, 607 (Pa.
1969); Carpenter v. City of Lancaster, 61 A. 1113 (Pa, 1905)). As such, we do not find
any merit in the Gold Dcfendants’ seventh assertion of error. We find that judgment in
this respect should be affinmed.
v
For the foregoing reasons, it is tespectfully submitied that this Court’s rulings

were free from eivor und (hal the judgment entered in favor of the Pluintiffs, in

accordance with the jury's verdict and our June 16, 2016 Order, should be affirmed.

BY THE COLIRT,
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